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Wednesday, August 17, 2011

--- On commencing at 9:30 a.m.

MS. SEBALJ:  Good morning, everyone.  My name is Kristi Sebalj.  I am Board counsel, and I'm accompanied by Colin Schuch, who is the case manager for this file.

We are here for Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc.'s customer information system and customer care costs technical conference, EB-2011-0226.

Just by way of background, Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. filed an application on June 20th under section 36 of the OEB Act for an order or orders of the Board approving its customer care and customer information system costs for 2013 to 2018.

A notice of application was issued by the Board to Enbridge on July 26th.  Procedural Order No. 1 was filed on July 28th, which proposed and made provisions on -- sorry, and made provisions for submissions on an issues list, and made provisions for IRs, responses to IRs and a technical conference, which is today.

There's also provision for a settlement conference and an oral hearing.

There was a Procedural Order No. 2, which essentially amended the dates for this technical conference to start today rather than tomorrow to accommodate some scheduling issues.

Interrogatories were to be filed on August 10th and responses were filed yesterday.

By letter dated -- my apologies.  That doesn't belong in there.

I remind all parties that because we are on an expedited schedule, there is still a possibility of having intervenor requests as late as August 22nd, in which case the case schedule may have to be modified.

My understanding is that this morning we have an initial witness panel which is made up of individuals from Five Point Consulting, who will be made available to answer any questions that intervenors or Board Staff may have.

My understanding also is that Mr. Warren will be doing some direct examination of those witnesses prior to their being made available for questions.

Following this witness panel, Enbridge intends to provide a panel of Enbridge employees to answer any questions -- any other questions related to the application.

I remind all parties, in particular Enbridge, that if there are any undertakings given today, they are to be filed no later than August 22nd, and that was by way of Board procedural order.

This technical conference is of course being transcribed, so I would ask you please speak clearly into your microphones.  I don't think that we have any inexperienced Board intervenors or parties in the room, so I won't explain the mics to you, but you know they are quirky.

I also remind parties we don't have an adjudicative panel here today.  If any disputes arise, we will have to make every attempt to resolve them, and, if that is not possible, we'll need to seek guidance from the panel off-line.

I also understand there may be a preliminary matter, so I'll turn it over to Mr. Stevens in a moment, but first I'll just get appearances for the record, please.
Appearances:


MR. QUINN:  Dwayne Quinn on behalf of FRPO.

MR. WARREN:  Robert Warren for the Consumers Council of Canada.

MR. THOMPSON:  Peter Thompson for CME.

DR. HIGGIN:  Roger Higgin for Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.

MR. STEVENS:  David Stevens for Enbridge.

MS. SEBALJ:  Gentlemen in the room, you are all with Enbridge.  And I will just note for the record, while Mr. Shepherd gets himself organized, that Mr. Shepherd is also here for School Energy Coalition.  I apologize.  I shouldn't have started, Jay.  I did a head count, but I did it improperly.

So I'll now turn it over to Mr. Stevens.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you very much.  Yesterday Enbridge filed responses to all of the interrogatories except for one.  The outstanding interrogatory I believe is Board Staff No. 12.  It requests a copy of the contract between Enbridge and Accenture that is part of the subject matter of this application.

Enbridge apologizes for not having filed that along with everything else.  The issue that we've confronted is that, not surprisingly, that contract contains items of particular confidential significance, particularly to Accenture.

And so we're involved in -- we're working as quickly as we can with Accenture to create a redacted version of the contract that can be put on the public record.  We hope to be able to do that by tomorrow morning.

What we propose to do is to file the interrogatory response, along with a redacted copy of the contract, tomorrow, and, by separate letter to the Board secretary, file also an unredacted copy of the contract which would be available to any party, subject to the Board's direction, but, in our view, would be available to any party who signed the Board's declaration and undertaking.

I have spoken to Mr. Schuch about a potential process for dealing with any discovery around this contract, recognizing the parties might have questions.  And just by way of forewarning, I will point out it runs to at least 500 pages, so it's a bit of a job to a read your way through it, should you choose to do.

What Mr. Schuch and I have discussed is that parties could present Enbridge with written interrogatories about this contract, rather than reconvening a technical conference, and Enbridge would answer those questions as soon as possible, with the intention to provide the answers at or before the start of the technical conference next Tuesday.

MS. SEBALJ:  And by technical conference, I assume you meant settlement conference?

MR. STEVENS:  I did.  Thank you very much.

MS. SEBALJ:  Is there anyone in the room who has any issues with any of that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is there any reason why we can't get the unredacted version today?

MR. STEVENS:  It hasn't been filed with the Board at all, Mr. Shepherd, so I don't think there is any to deal with -- first of all, I don't have copies with me.  But, secondly, I don't think there's any way -- as I understand, to accommodate the Board's process, if it hasn't yet been filed with the Board, as I understand it, the Board is the administrator of receiving the declarations and undertakings, and then providing the unredacted copies to those who signed them.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.

MS. SEBALJ:  You are technically correct, but the practice has evolved over time.  Ultimately, it's up to -- in my view, ultimately, if you're comfortable sharing it with parties who have signed the declaration and undertaking, it's Enbridge's information.  So if they wish to do that and people can sign -- I could provide at a break copies of the declaration and undertaking for people to sign.

Now, ultimately, you don't have it here with you today, but I don't know if it's possible for -- how quickly that could be provided.

MR. STEVENS:  I'm afraid I don't think we'll be in a position to have copies of the contract while we're here today.  We'll endeavor to get it out as quickly as possible.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, help me with that.  You can't make copies before the end of the day?

MR. STEVENS:  I don't have them here, Mr. Shepherd.  In terms of getting them here and making copies, I can speak to people about whether that is possible.  I hadn't understood that there would necessarily be a lot of questions about this, and I was hopeful, by allowing parties the time to look at it and absorb it and ask written questions, that we could address any discovery needs that there are around the contract in the way that I've described.

MS. SEBALJ:  Can we just leave it as perhaps you can speak with the folks from Enbridge and determine whether a copy can be made available today?  And, if so, it may be that, you know, Mr. Shepherd or Board Staff can do a quick flip through and be efficient about asking some preliminary questions and we might not have to have a written process.  If you can't, you can't.

MR. STEVENS:  I'll make inquiries at the first opportunity.

MS. SEBALJ:  Thanks.  So unless there is anything else from anybody in the room, I'll turn it over to Mr. Warren.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you.  Just by way of overview introduction, contained within the pre-filed evidence are two reports, one from an entity called TMG dealing with CIS matter, and the second report from Five Partners -- Five Point Partners, I'm sorry, dealing with the customer care contract.

And there are also references within the text portion of Enbridge's pre-filed evidence to those reports and to the role which Five Point played in an arriving at the views it has on the customer care contract.

We're in the somewhat unusual position that there is no pre-filed evidence from representatives of Five Point.  However, as the information in the evidence indicates and as the representatives of Five Point today will indicate, over the course of the last several years they have been engaged at various times in providing advice to a customer care consultant, and their representatives, specifically Messrs. Thompson, Shepherd and me with respect to CIS, CIS implementation and the customer care contracts.

We thought therefore that it would be helpful if we were to begin the session today with an overview of Five Point and their role, particularly with respect to the consulting contract, and we thought it more efficient if I were to do that, rather than have Enbridge do that.

So if the two witnesses could be sworn, please?  Or are they not technically sworn for the technical conference?

MS. SEBALJ:  No, the witnesses aren't sworn at the technical conference.  You threw me for a loop there, Mr. Warren.

MR. WARREN:  Then you can say what you want.

[Laughter]

MS. SEBALJ:  Getting prepared to swear them.  If they would like to be sworn, there's nothing preventing that.
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MR. WARREN:  Then by way of introduction, to your right is Mario Bauer, and to his left is Ashok Sundaram.

And I'll begin, Mr. Bauer, with you.  What is your position with Five Point Partners?

MR. BAUER:  I'm a vice-president partner with Five Point Partners.

MR. WARREN:  What is the business of Five Point Partners?

MR. BAUER:  We are customer care and billing experts in the industry.  We're the leaders when it comes to this function.  We're working -- we worked with over 300 projects in our history, with over almost 200 utilities, and we currently working with 25 large utilities in North America.

MR. WARREN:  My next question was whether and to what extent you and Five Point are familiar with CIS and customer care arrangements for utilities.  I take it from your answer that you are on an ongoing basis?

MR. BAUER:  Very much so.  Again, we are the leaders in the industry by far.  No one has come close to the footprint we have in the industry today, and over the past 15 years.

MR. WARREN:  Over the course of your work, Mr. Bauer, have you had occasion to testify before US regulatory agencies?

MR. BAUER:  Yes.  I have and my firm has extensively.

MR. WARREN:  In your testimony, have you been recognized as an expert by those agencies in CIS and customer care matters?

MR. BAUER:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Did you bring that expertise and background to a consideration of Enbridge's CIS and customer care arrangements?

MR. BAUER:  Absolutely.

MR. WARREN:  There's a reference in the material, and indeed there's a report from TMG.  Can you describe what TMG is?

MR. BAUER:  TMG is a firm I worked for, for about 10 years.  We were acquired in January 2009 by Five Point Partners.

I moved into a role there similar to the one I was at TMG.  I was president of TMG; I became a vice-president at Five Point Partners.  And I'm a partner there, obviously.  That's the role and that's the history between TMG and Five Point.

MR. WARREN:  In terms of continuity, from the beginning engagement, certainly, of the consultative process in 2006 dealing with the CIS project, have you personally been continuously engaged, whether with TMG or Five Point Partners?

MR. BAUER:  I have, and so has Ashok Sundaram.

MR. WARREN:  Mr. Sundaram, turning to you, what is your position with EnerFocus Consulting Inc.?

MR. SUNDARAM:  I am the managing principal for EnerFocus Consulting.

MR. WARREN:  And what is the relationship of EnerFocus to Five Point?

MR. SUNDARAM:  We have been subcontracted by Five Point, and we have been engaged right from the beginning of CIS and customer care service vendor selection all the way through CIS implementation and the recent extension initiative.

MR. WARREN:  And your personal familiarity with issues of CIS and customer care for utilities is what?

MR. SUNDARAM:  I have been working in utilities and with CIS implementation and customer care for the last 12 years.  That's predominantly most of my consulting tenure, so I worked closely with many utilities here in North America and also within Canada, in Canada especially.

MR. WARREN:  Can I take you back, gentlemen, to -- briefly to the history?  When did you first become engaged with issues, first of the CIS arrangements for EGD?

MR. BAUER:  We were engaged back in February of 2006 to -– actually, we were hired by –- we interviewed with, actually, you, Robert, to come in and oversee the CIS vendors SI selection and report on that to the consultative process for the intervenors.

MR. WARREN:  And was one of your functions in that role to ensure that the budget arrived at was comparable to industry standards?

MR. BAUER:  That was one of our functions, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Did your advice play a role in arriving at the settlement agreement that was ultimately approved by the Board in 2007?

MR. BAUER:  Yes.  We were part of the budget planning process, and gave recommendations on what industry standards were in regards to budget, for budget for CISs in North America.

MR. WARREN:  Did you then have a role in advising the consultative process on the implementation of CIS between 2007 and 2009?

MR. BAUER:  Yes, we did.  We were involved through the whole implementation work, overseeing that process and reporting back to the consultative.

MR. WARREN:  Thirdly, did you have a role in advising the consultative on the first of the customer care outsourcing arrangements by Enbridge?

MR. BAUER:  Yes, we did.

MR. WARREN:  I want to take you, then, to the customer care service agreement extension, which is the subject in part of this application.

When were you retained to provide advice with respect to that matter?

MR. BAUER:  That was -- looking at my notes here -- July 2010.

MR. WARREN:  At the time that you were retained to provide advice, first of all, were you retained to provide advice to the steering committee of the consultative process?

MR. BAUER:  Yes, we were.

MR. WARREN:  What was the stage at which you found Enbridge's consideration of a customer care extension when you were first retained?

MR. BAUER:  What was the stage?  Where were they at in the process?

MR. WARREN:  Where were they at in the process?

MR. BAUER:  They were looking at extending the current agreement they had with Accenture.  But when I say that, they also -- that's the path they were going down, but they were also looking at two other options, repatriating the customer care, bring it back in, and also looking at putting a potential RFP.  They had a strategy in place to look at all three of those options.

MR. WARREN:  When you were first engaged in July of 2010, was there at that point a potential bid from ABSU for the contract extension, and if so, what was the approximate value of that bid?

MR. SUNDARAM:  When we got engaged, EGD already released their RFP to ABSU, and they were waiting, waiting ABSU's response.

The initial response, as it came out, the pricing was higher than –- it's unacceptable, according to EGD.  We never saw the first price bid.  We saw some templates, spreadsheets with respect to what the cost per customer was, but we didn't necessarily see the first proposal, because EGD basically mentioned this proposal is unacceptable; it is not even worth reviewing.  We have to go back and renegotiate with them.

MR. WARREN:  At a high level, gentlemen, and without a lot of the detail that's in your report, could you describe the process as it revolved over the succeeding six months leading to a contract agreement?

MR. SUNDARAM:  Can you please repeat that, Robert?

MR. WARREN:  Sorry, at a high level, what was the process that was followed over the succeeding five or six months to arrive at the contract extension?

MR. SUNDARAM:  In January of 2010, EGD deployed a customer care delivery strategy team.  The intent of that team is to look at options, because in about two years the 2007 customer care service agreement is about to expire.  And their timing of that strategy study, in our belief, is that it's appropriate, because the longest lead time, if they were to consider even, you know -- of the three major options they were considering at the time, one is, as I said, extension of their contract with ABSU, full bid, you know, and go with the new service provider, should it be, including the transition time, and finally to repatriate their customer care functionalities in-house.

Looking at the lead time of all three, that was the right time to start it, which was about January or February of 2010.

The customer care delivery strategy team looked at their current operations, looked at their present requirements and also future requirements.  They spoke to some of the industry experts, other utilities.  They looked at some market trends, and they came with the a strategy per se as to how they want to go about executing or looking at their options for customer care.  And also they engaged EquaTerra, which is a third-party consulting company, which basically focusses on contract negotiations through comments gathering, and finally, you know, put together service agreements for outsourcing contracts.

So they have been working for a few clients here in Canada, so they brought them in and they looked at the current 2007 service agreement for pricing, or if there are any gaps in the requirements, so on and so forth.

So that's the work that has been done.

MR. WARREN:  I wanted to focus on what you and Mr. Bauer did from the time you came on in July in terms of the process going forward.


MR. SUNDARAM:  Apologies.  Going on, when we came in, we looked at the EquaTerra report that was already published that looked at the 2007 customer care service agreement.  We were to review Enbridge's strategy, and so forth, as to what they planned to do for service delivery.

We were to look at the RFP, request for proposal, that went out to Accenture, and then look at Accenture's response and the costs associated with that, to come up with:  Is that a reasonable proposal or an acceptable cost, based on market trends and benchmark numbers, and to advise the consultative group.  That's yourself, Peter Thompson and Jay Shepherd.

MR. WARREN:  Now, the process going forward, as I understand, was a decision was taken along -- consistent with advice you gave, that they would provide with the ABSU arrangement.

Can you describe just briefly what the stages were in that, in terms of the back and forth between ABSU and Enbridge?

MR. SUNDARAM:  I have to pull out a report to look at.  Just one quick second.  You want us to go over the chronological order as to what was -- how --


MR. WARREN:  I'm less interested in the chronology, Mr. Sundaram, and simply the stages.  There was a -- you came in and you described that Enbridge had taken a position they were going to send an RFP to ABSU.

I'll get to the reasons in a moment, but I simply want to describe there was a response from ABSU that you didn't see.  What was the next stage?  Was there a response back, further response back?

MR. SUNDARAM:  The next stage was EGD looked at their SLA scope and they revised it a little bit, and then they issued an addendum to the original proposal.  Then based on that, ABSU came back with another response.

MR. WARREN:  What was the response from ABSU at that stage in terms of money?

MR. SUNDARAM:  Pricing?  You want the numbers?

MR. WARREN:  I want the numbers.

MR. WARREN:  It's around $457 million over the seven-year contract term.

MR. WARREN:  And the next stage after that, did Enbridge accept that, or did they come back and ask for reductions in that?

MR. SUNDARAM:  They further went ahead and negotiated.  There was a lot of extensive back and forth negotiations.  There was more revisions done to the requirements to try to find opportunities to further reduce the contract price, and then this time ABSU came back with another proposal for $437 million.

MR. WARREN:  At that stage, did you provide advice to the consultative group as to what you thought the appropriate number would be, based on your review of both Enbridge's requirements and what ABSU was providing?

MR. SUNDARAM:  We advised -- talked about certain numbers to the three consultative people, the stakeholders, the steering committee, and also we came up with a memorandum of the key items, the big headers as to initiatives that's EGD may consider that could reduce further the price.

MR. WARREN:  Was your recommendation to the consultative that you thought a number somewhere in the range $424, $425 million was a reasonable number?

MR. SUNDARAM:  Yes.  We do believe so.

MR. WARREN:  The ultimate number that was arrived at was approximately $430 million; is that correct?

MR. SUNDARAM:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  A couple of high-level questions.  In terms of the ultimate result that was arrived at, did you, Mr. Bauer, Mr. Sundaram, reach a conclusion as to whether or not that is a reasonable conclusion, a reasonable contract, based on your review of market comparables?

MR. SUNDARAM:  Yes, we do.

MR. WARREN:  In terms of the process that was followed, deciding to go -- to try and reach an arrangement with ABSU as opposed to going to a full-blown market RFP, did you reach a conclusion as to the relative strengths and weaknesses of that approach?

In particular, were there risks in going with a full-blown RFP, and, if so, what were those risks?

MR. SUNDARAM:  Yes, there are pros and cons in both approaches.  Before we even answer that question, we want to point out there are 75 -- approximately 70 to 75 percent of clients end up renegotiating their outsourcing service agreements with their current service provider.

MR. WARREN:  Just on the question, I may just briefly turn to you, Mr. Bauer?

MR. BAUER:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  In terms of the ultimate of 430, there were three options that were considered.  One was to repatriate, one was to go to a full-blown RFP, and a third was to, if you wish, sole source to go to ABSU for an extension.

Are there risks, or did you consider at the time there were risks engaged or involved in going to a full-blown RFP, and, if so, what were those risks?

MR. BAUER:  Yes, there were some risks, and we considered those.  One of the risks was, you know, going out for a full bid, the number of bids we would get.  We potentially could have received one bid, and that could have been from Accenture, and that would have put us in a very, very difficult negotiating position.  And we considered that.

Also, the other risks would be if we did transition out, the risk of bringing in a new vendor, there's a lot of risks in terms of transitioning out, and there's also dollars you've got to consider in terms of a transition.

Depending on who you talk to in the industry, it anywhere between 10 to $20 million, and that's a number I believe EGD was looking at, as well.

Finally, you have the cost of procurement, as well.  That can be anywhere between, depending on who you talk to, 3 to $10 million.  Here, I think it would have been on the high end, just based on the fact that if another vendor was going to come in to bid, we may have had to pay them to go through the process, because some of them would have been going through this process for a second time and they know unsitting an incumbent is -- you know, you have heard
the -- about 75 percent of them usually extend.  They recognize that, so we would have had to entice them by paying them some amount of money to go through that process to prove that we were very serious about looking at that.

So those three risks were the big risks that we looked at.  And so what EGD decided to do was move forward in negotiations in a sole source model, and if we could get -- if they could get to a point where they felt it was a solid deal, they probably couldn't get better in the market, they would probably go in that direction, just based upon what I just told you.

They had a date set when - they haven't got to that point - they would go to RFP.  They were working on an RFP to put out on the streets up until they came to an agreement.  So they were ready to release an RFP if they didn't get to a number they felt they could present to this group here that was acceptable.

MR. WARREN:  Mr. Bauer, during the course of providing your advice, did you deal with EGD?  Were you in regular contact with EGD about this process?

MR. BAUER:  Absolutely.  They were very open.  We had a lot of questions.  We didn't always -- yes.

MR. WARREN:  Did you deal with ABSU?

MR. BAUER:  Yes, we did, as well.

MR. WARREN:  Did you deal with EquaTerra?

MR. BAUER:  Yes, we did.

MR. WARREN:  As well, Mr. Bauer, did you cross-check any of the information you were getting with industry contacts or, indeed, with your own clients to determine -- to get a sense of what the market comparables were like?

MR. BAUER:  We checked our own clients.  We talked with all the major outsource providers, all the ones that were considering bidding here and all the organizations you mentioned.  So we had a very extensive -- we did extensive due diligence on this, as well, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Now, in terms of the ultimate contract, finally, gentlemen, is the price that was arrived at roughly the same as the existing arrangement?

MR. BAUER:  Roughly, on a cost per customer basis, it is.  But when you consider what they got in that contract, they were able to add extra services and increase service levels to the benefit of Enbridge and their customers.

So the price is the same.  The services they got, they were able to add onto that.

MR. WARREN:  Mr. Bauer, based on your experience, is the resulting contract a reasonable one in the interests of Enbridge and its ratepayers?

MR. BAUER:  I believe so.  And the reason I say that is the price didn't increase.  Typically what you see is going from first generation to second generation, you will see a significant reduction in costs.  EGD did get that through the tendering process.  They got, like, a 25 or 26 percent reduction.

Going from second to third generation, there is not as much data there.  We did feel there would -- should be some sort of cost savings based upon the current provider's knowledge of the organization.  We pretty much got the same price, but I can argue there is a reduction, because they got added services.

If you look at their -- if you look at it from a cost per customer basis, they are on the very -- they are on the low end of the average.  So I would this a very -- a reasonable deal for the ratepayer.

MR. WARREN:  Those are my questions.  Thanks.

MS. SEBALJ:  Can I can get just a -- who in the room is intending to ask questions of this panel?

Okay.  I don't know if Colin was able to agree on an order beforehand, but does anyone have a preference?  I know Board Staff has questions, as well.

Roger, would you like to go?  Okay.

Go ahead, Colin.
Questions by Mr. Schuch:

MR. SCHUCH:  Just a couple of questions.

I was wondering if I could get you to go over your recommendations associated with – I think we're on now.  Yeah.

I was wondering if I could get you to go over your recommendations associated with this application, and explain what you have recommended and why.

MR. SUNDARAM:  Which application are you talking about?  The CIS?

MR. SCHUCH:  The CIS and customer care.  You might find Board Staff Interrogatory No. 18 helpful.  I don't know if you have it in front of you.

MR. SUNDARAM:  We do.

MR. BAUER:  We do.

MR. WARREN:  Colin, may I just ask for clarification there.  When you talk about the recommendations, are you talking about the recommendations that are in their report that are -- the specific recommendations that are contained in the report, or more generally?

MR. SCHUCH:  More generally.  It could be either in the report or in the context of your discussions.  I would like to hear in your own words what -– you know, as you were going through the whole process, what did you recommend to the parties involved, including Enbridge, perhaps ABSU and others.

MR. SUNDARAM:  We want to talk first about the customer care service agreement, then we'll talk about CIS a little later.

With respect to the competitor bidding process, we --in our -- one of our recommendations was to have a full-blown process, like an RFP process, would yield a pricing that would be favourable, but that recommendation was more of after the sole-sourcing RFP had gone out, but ever since that, EGD's strategy was to first send the sole-sourcing RFP out and see what the pricing comes back as, and if that is going to fail, then they were willing to do the full-blown RFP competitor bid process.  So that was one recommendation.

We recommended that EGD looks at the large-volume billing and trying to bring that in, the cost, the risk associated with that, the feasibility of that.  EGD went ahead, did the work, and they were successful in bringing the functionality back in-house by May 2011.

We suggested that the fees increases significantly in the first option year of the seven -- after the seven years of customer care service agreement, and that EGD should consider or have a strategy in place to initiate procurement strategy ahead of time before the option years kick in, because that is more favourable for the ratepayers, or else they end up paying more money.  That is the strategy EGD has in place.

We also suggested that there should be a proper mechanism in place to apply, track and report usage of the consulting work hours.  Again, that is being instituted; EGD went ahead and implemented that that as well.

The rest is more of what they should be doing to get the approval -- so it's, like, OEB approval -- then go ahead and get the customer care service agreement third amendment done, and so on and so forth.

So those are the major recommendations that was after the project was done.

MR. BAUER:  During the process too, during negotiations, we gave EGD a list of areas where they can look at, to consider for reduction in overall price of the contract during their negotiations with Accenture.  We put that list together, gave them what we thought the price reduction could be.

Through their negotiations, they were able to look at that, use several of those to drive down the pricing, and it seemed to be an effective process.

MR. SUNDARAM:  Yes.  Almost all of those were considered and implemented, incorporated in the new service agreement.

MR. SCHUCH:  Can you tell us a bit about the list and what the key items were?

MR. SUNDARAM:  Yes, I could.  Need to pull some reports out.  Just bear with us.

We talked about removal of RACI for soft skills training, and also communication of EGD policy and procedure changes.  These are -- that would change the training time.  There was a -- dollars associated with that cost category.  EGD went ahead and removed that, and we ended up reducing the contract price based on that.

MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry, can you just repeat what the first line you said?  You recommended reducing --


MR. SUNDARAM:  Soft skills training, removing soft skills training.  That was a requirement from EGD in the customer care service agreement contract.

MS. SEBALJ:  I see.

MR. SUNDARAM:  And we believe that that was not necessarily a value added, or not required to do.  It's not typical of an outsourcing agreement.  And that was removed by EGD based on our recommendation or suggestion.

MS. SEBALJ:  I'm sorry, you used a term.  You said RACI.  Is that -- can you explain what that means for the record?

MR. SUNDARAM:  It's responsible, accountable.

MS. SEBALJ:  Got you.  Okay.  Thank you.  Sorry.  Continue.  I'm following you know.

MR. BAUER:  There were dollars associated with each recommendation.  Do you want to share that with them, Ashok?

MR. SUNDARAM:  These were dollar estimates -- this is not the last and final number, so...

MS. SEBALJ:  I think I'm going to end up asking you if you wouldn't mind producing that list by way of undertaking.  Is that possible?

MR. SUNDARAM:  Sure.

MR. SCHUCH:  Can we assign undertaking numbers?

MS. SEBALJ:  You're okay with that?

MR. WARREN:  It's embodied in a report that was provided to the consultative and was provided to Enbridge, as well.

It lists the categories in which they thought they could get reductions.  If you want that report, we're happy to provide it to you.

MR. SCHUCH:  Why don't we have that report, then, filed, and we'll call it...

MS. SEBALJ:  It will be JTC1.1.

UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.1:  the PROVIDE FIVE POINT REPORT LISTING AREAS WERE POTENTIAL REDUCTIONS WERE IDENTIFIED, AND REPORT ON REDUCTIONS THAT WERE REALIZED.

MR. SUNDARAM:  Just note that the costs in these reports were based on an older proposal with the higher costs, so the savings were not exactly what we had said, because this was written a while ago.  The recommendations made were in November of last year.

MS. SEBALJ:  Perhaps you can caveat that in the cover to your undertaking.

MR. SUNDARAM:  Certainly.

MS. SEBALJ:  So it's understood for the record.

Can I also -- is it clear from what you are going to provide what of those savings were actually realized, or is that a different paper, a different document?

MR. SUNDARAM:  It would be a different document.

MS. SEBALJ:  So would you be able to provide the report that tells us what of the savings were realized, as well?

MR. WARREN:  Yes.  I'm not certain there's going to be a one-to-one correspondence because there's a shifting description of them, but we'll provide what we have by way of those reports to show what was taken out and what was left in.

MS. SEBALJ:  That would be helpful.  Thank you.  And we can have that as part A and B of the same undertaking, for the record.

MR. SUNDARAM:  There's also bringing back the quality assurance functionality of the calls.  It was already in Manila, and the functionality is to be brought back here to Canada.  And there was some savings associated with that if it just stays in Manila.  And that was another recommendation we made, and that was carried out and there was further savings realized.

There is removal of pricing for management of service-level agreements implemented for large-volume customers, and given that large-volume customers -- that large-volume billing has come back in-house, they wouldn't be requiring that functionality.  Again, there are some savings associated with that.  Again, that was again factored in.

I think, from the top of my head, those are the big hitters.

MR. BAUER:  We'll provide the whole list for you, though.

MS. SEBALJ:  I also had a follow-up from something that you said.  When Colin asked what your recommendations were, I think the first one you said was a full-blown RFP, but by the time you made that recommendation, Enbridge had already begun -- had chosen, of its options, to attempt to sole source, see how the pricing went, and then left open the option for a full-blown RFP.

So do I understand from that that your recommendation to the steering committee was a full-blown RFP, and that was your preference?

MR. BAUER:  No.  We looked at where we were in the process, and, like we said earlier, they had an incumbent provider, okay?  And based on where they were, usually we mentioned around 75 percent of current providers usually stay on.

Usually when they are replaced, it's because of management -- there's management issues or just significant issues with that provider.  They didn't have those issues at EGD.  And that's typically why these providers get replaced.

The industry pretty much knew there were no major issues there, so when we stepped back and looked at everything, we agreed with the approach they were taking.  They were going up to a certain point, and if they could get the services they wanted for the prices they felt were industry standards or on the low end - they really negotiated these down - then they wouldn't have to go to RFP, because as we stated earlier, going to RFP with the rest of the industry understanding that the likelihood of EGD replacing their current provider was low, we didn't want to go out and put out an RFP and have only Accenture bid, because we would have been in a very, very tough situation.

What EGD was able to do - we talked to EGD about this - was really hold Accenture, I guess we call it, to the fire with the threat of going out to RFP if we did not get, you know, the type of pricing we felt was within the industry norms and basically leverage this going into a third generation contract.

And so we believe they took the right approach here, because they were prepared to release an RFP.  If we didn't get to that point, they were actually developing the RFP and we were getting to the point to release it.

MR. SUNDARAM:  Based on what we have seen in the market, it is not unusual for a utility to extend their contract, renegotiate that first, unless there is a serious operational issue or relationship issue.

In a nutshell, the way EGD went, how they wanted to go about seeking a strategy, is simple:  Costs associated with doing the process and how much it's going to cost ratepayers and EGD.  What's the risk associated with it operationally?  They look at the least expensive and the least risk first, and if that fails, the next one and the next one on the list.

So the first one was extension, and the second one would be full-blown, and even if that is not going to work out, then repatriate everything back, which is has got a very, very high operational risk to start off.

MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry, I didn't mean to make you repeat what you said.  I did understand it the first time.  What I was just trying to understand is it sounded to me like your initial recommendation going in was full-blown RFP and that you were convinced that the strategy was appropriate, as opposed to your initial recommendation being to see what you could do on the sole source side before you went to full-blown RFP.

So I was just trying to understand how the two statements reconciled.  Is it the case your initial recommendation was full-blown RFP?

MR. SUNDARAM:  It was not a recommendation.  If it started in February, the way we would have done it, it would have been a full-blown RFP, but all things considered, EGD strategy was acceptable for us.

MS. SEBALJ:  Thanks.

MR. BAUER:  It's a common strategy, as well.

MR. SUNDARAM:  And the price, they got a reasonable price.

MS. SEBALJ:  Thanks.

MR. SCHUCH:  Thank you.  Now that you've been through the process with EGD and with ABSU and others, have you got any lingering concerns about the approach Enbridge has taken to the outsourcing associated with this application?

MR. SUNDARAM:  Not that I can think of any.

MR. BAUER:  A big concern we may have had was addressed.  We discussed it with the consultative, Enbridge and Accenture.  I think everything has been discussed and mitigated to the extent it could be.

MR. SCHUCH:  Thank you.  Just one last question.  I wondered, is there anything in the execution of this generation that we're talking about of customer care and CIS that you would say has been done really well?

MR. BAUER:  I would like to address that.  I think this consultative process really has allowed transparency to all parties involved.  I know we weren't very popular at times with some of our requests and recommendations, but, at the end of the day, I think it worked for all parties.

And I can say that to the CIS piece, as well.  We didn't always agree on an approach.  EGD has a business to run.  But we were looking at it from what is the -- what's fair in terms of getting the market value and so on, especially the way it's set up with the ratepayer taking on some of this.

I think at the end of the day, the process really worked for all parties involved in terms of getting expertise around negotiating the contract, getting the best price, getting information out to all people involved in this process, where if it wasn't open like this, I don't think we would have got to where we were in terms of satisfying the people actually paying for this.

MR. SUNDARAM:  I also note that because third generation, fourth generation is going on, the saving from the first to the second will be higher, and once it gets to that steep curve, it plateaus out, because constantly between the service provider and the utility, they keep working on trying to find efficiency gains everywhere.

There's a point of saturation.  So with respect to how it's being done, where things are at, you know, anything that could come to our mind, when you look at it, it's been addressed or looked after or considered.

MR. BAUER:  And we were able to -- in the role we played, we were able to talk to all parties involved, and we feel in both instances, especially the customer care one, we pushed the ABSU right to the limit, to the point of they were willing to back out of this deal.

And so we feel we pushed them -- we squeezed this as much as we could in terms of getting a competitive price.  When you compare it to industry standards, it shows that, as well.

MS. SEBALJ:  By way of follow-up on something you said earlier, you talked about the fact that companies will normally extend their contract 70 to 75 percent of the time, I think you said, unless there are significant operational or relationship issues.

Did you do -- did you have a look at whether there were any operational or relationship issues?  I mean, I'll obviously ask Enbridge this question, because they would probably know better, but what was your assessment of -- surely this didn't run perfectly for the first year, so what were the issues?

MR. SUNDARAM:  We can't necessarily think of any issues, per se, because, as you said, third generation, they already got into a working relationship.  The management knows what EGD -- EGD knows what the -- how the service provider operates.

And, in fact, they have an office right within EGD's premises, the contractors, the vendors.  So relationship wise, it is good, and obviously, you know, just like any utility, any client, they always want more for their money, and there's the vendor saying, Well, there's only so much I can do, and cost is too high for us.  We're not making any margins.

But from an operational standpoint, they have very good service level, especially more so protecting EGD and the ratepayers' interest.  That's the way the contract has been set up.  So if there is an operational issue, it will really hurt the bottom line of the service provider.

So that particular mechanism is sort of taking care of itself.  So from that perspective looking at it, we don't necessarily see many of the relationship issue or operational issue at this time.

MS. SEBALJ:  So when you say it really affects their bottom line, sorry, translate that for me practically speaking.  Meaning if the system is unavailable, they take a hit?

MR. SUNDARAM:  Yes, penalties associated with it.

MS. SEBALJ:  Thanks.  I think those are all Board Staff's questions.
Questions by Dr. Higgin:

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  Roger Higgin for Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.  It's been a while since I've seen you guys, about four years, I would think.  Nice to see you again.

As you know, we're not part of the stakeholder committee.  Another thing that I would mention to you is that we view CIS services in general for utilities and customer care as two separate, different functions.  They are packaged in this particular case and application, but we do view them as separate.  And therefore, looking at things like benchmarking and so on, we tend to look at each one as an individual service.  Okay?  So just by way of preamble...

So what I am trying to clarify is just the scope of your engagement, what you looked at.  So if you could turn up the template, and I think we'll use Exhibit B, tab 5, schedule 2 template, which has the actual costs in it, as opposed to the forecast costs.  So that's Exhibit B, tab 5, schedule 2.

So you have that?  And if you can -- maybe have a hard copy might be easier because you may have to switch.

So I going to be inquiring about the scope of your engagement as it pertains to certain lines of costs in this template.  Okay?  That's what –- that's the scope of my initial questions.

So the other thing I would like you to turn up, if you can -- I have a copy in the package there -- VECC Interrogatory No. 1.  That's under the second tab, and it's No. 1.

What I wanted to ask a question about was part (b) and (c) of the interrogatory response from Enbridge, which indirectly engages you and the steering committee.  So let's start with understanding the scope of your engagement, and tell me, then, in respect of the interrogatory response, it says that the steering committee members have agreed to the values in rows 3 and 10A, very specifically 10A.  That's what it says.

So specifically, was that the area where you looked at those costs in detail?  That is, rows 3 and 10A, or was it broader than that?  What was the scope of your review, please?

MR. SUNDARAM:  Rows 3 and 10A are CIS costs and the customer care service agreement costs, and they are populated in the template.  IK believe it is based on a revenue requirement calculation.  Our involvement is from the time -- let's talk about CIS.  Vendor selection, to look at how much it would cost a typical utility of EGD's size to implement a CIS solution, how much is that, so have a pre-approved budget to implement it.  All through the implementation, getting, you know, as risk managers, sorting out if they are going to be any risk of cost overrun or quality issues, and what have you.  And then closing off that implementation by having a close-out report, as you see here, that stated that the way EGD ran the project was diligent and the funds were properly appropriated during the time.

Now, same thing came for the customer care service agreement, the extension process.  And we talked in detail about it today as to how EGD came with the final price.

So we are fully aware of the numbers, costs for those two line items, but we were not mandated to look at the revenue requirement and how it is populated in the template.

MR. HIGGIN:  I understand the difference.  But just clarify, did you, for example, include in your review the costs in line 4, CIS hosting and support?

MR. SUNDARAM:  No.  Only rows 3 and 10A, Roger.

MR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  And then looking at the lines below 10A, i.e., 10B, which relates to meter-reading, and B, postage and other costs for billing, you never reviewed any of those costs?

MR. SUNDARAM:  No.

MR. HIGGIN:  So it was purely -- your scope was within those two lines?

Okay.  Thank you very much.  That's what I wanted to understand.

Now, if you look at our interrogatory and you look at (c), Enbridge says that it doesn't have any other documentation on your opinion -- this was asked up in the question, part (c) –- other than the slide decks that were provided in its evidence.

You've expanded on that today in terms of your opinion, but we would still like to understand from you what that opinion is, starting with CIS.  And if you can refer to this template and the costs that are being presented in aggregate, I know you didn't review all those costs, only a component.  But if you look at the CIS costs, they are, in my calculation, around 1,860 for 2013 per customer -- my calculations -- and they do decline to 1,560 by the end of the period.

So starting with that –- and as I said, we don't have big concerns -- how does that look, in your global experience, with a utility of this size for a hosted CIS system?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. BAUER:  I was just talking to Ashok about this, to clarify the question.

We looked at it from a global perspective, as we are mandated, from an implementation cost of the CIS.  We do a study every year that the whole market looks at in terms of what it should cost to implement a CIS system, you know, and we looked back two years every year.

And what we -- I provided some information recently to EGD, but this year's numbers that we released in –- I believe it was June 7th, the range goes from 55 bucks a customer to 110 bucks a customer to implement a CIS system.  And that includes your software costs, hardware costs, SI cost.

MR. SUNDARAM:  System integrator' SI is system integrator.

MR. BAUER:  Yeah.  That would be Sapient here.

Your internal cost, any extended systems that you may have purchased, which -- most utilities have to get systems that extend their CIS.  When you look at that, the range goes from $55 to about 110.  Okay.

And then when you break that down, what did EGD pay?  Going off memory here, based on the number of customers and their budget, it was a little over -- I think I broke it down to around 62 bucks a customer.  And when you look at that range, as well, we're including all CIS systems in there.  And SAP, which they implemented, is one of the more expensive CIS systems to implement, for a couple of reasons.  It's very configurable, and the resources out there that have the knowledge of that technology are limited, and so you pay more for them.

So based upon the fact they implemented one of the more expensive systems that require these resources that are very limited out there, they did very well, if you look at that range.  They fell at 62 bucks a customer.

So that's what we tend to look at.

Then when you looked at the timeline, too, we say a project like this should take around 24 months, and originally EGD was proposing -- I believe it was 21 months, 22 months.  We told them we thought that was not long enough.

They chose to go forward with that. It ended up taking a little bit longer than 22 months.  At the end of the day, they came in on their budget for the most part, based upon what we planned and what we recommended.

So that's how -- that was our mandate, to look at it from an implementation perspective.  And this is viewed in the industry as a successful project, especially considering -- and we do this study, as well, every year.  Every year it comes -- between 70 to 75 percent of these not viewed as successful, and success to us is on time, on budget and to scope.

You can argue this came a little over the timeline, but it was to scope and on budget, which usually when it goes over the timeline, it really gets blown out, the costs.

So we would consider this one of the 25 percent that were successful, and if you talk to experts in the industry, they would say the same.

So I think the money was well spent here, and the project was well managed.  I think the process contributed to that.

MR. SUNDARAM:  Sorry, your question, you were asking for 2013.  Doing the math, it came up to $18.60 per customer.  That's the revenue requirement.

MR. HIGGIN:  Yes, that's what the ratepayers have to pay and that's what we tend to look at for a CIS, for example, against Hydro One or other utilities.  That was the scope of my question to you.

MR. SUNDARAM:  We cannot comment on that.  What we could comment on is:  What was the actual cost of CIS, and how much the other utilities are paying, because every one have -- everyone in Ontario probably has a different way of calculating revenue requirements compared to other states.

So it's not apples and apples.  So we can't comment on 18.60, but we can comment on the overall cost, EGD -- what the capital cost was to implement the system for the size of the utility.

DR. HIGGIN:  That's helpful.  As you may realize, we did ask questions about benchmarking, about the costs to Enbridge, and we did not -- we were told they did not have that question.  And so that was -- did not have that information, I'm sorry.  So that's fine.

MR. BAUER:  If you require further general information like that, we have it, and I believe I provided Mike Mees with a slide that broke that down in terms of industry standards.  I just gave that to Mike very recently.  I think it was, like, on Friday or something.

DR. HIGGIN:  So could you file that?  For example, my rough take on this is somewhere from $15 to $20 per customer per year is in the right ballpark.  That's for example.

MR. SUNDARAM:  Again, we can't comment on that.

DR. HIGGIN:  No.  So if you could provide that, that would be an undertaking.  That would be helpful.

MS. SEBALJ:  That will be JTC1.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.2:  TO PROVIDE INFORMATION PREVIOUSLY PROVIDED TO MR. MEES

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  Now, just coming back and extending this discussion to the customer care portion, again, referring to your scope of review, and so on, and looking at the total costs, and then specifically line 10A, okay, which is the majority, but is not all of the costs.

So just to clarify, line 10A corresponds to the ABSU main contract that you were involved with; correct?

MR. SUNDARAM:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  But you quoted a package price, okay, here of $430 million.  So what does that refer to?  It must include some of these other components.  You said 430 million was, quote, a good price.

MR. SUNDARAM:  Again, we were not -- we didn't review the template and how it was populated.  However, we are aware that the 430 includes open bill; is that correct?  So -- but that 10A line item does not include open bill in that.

So that open bill costs have been removed, and it was calculated for revenue recovery and that's how it's been spread out.

DR. HIGGIN:  So the main missing component to your knowledge - I'll ask Enbridge this - is open bill and the costs, which is a separate contract with ABSU?

MR. SUNDARAM:  Correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  I'm just going to check if I have any more questions on this.

Okay, did you -- on the question of bringing -- repatriating the ABC service and the billing for ABC, large-volume customers, did you -- you did an analysis, or did you look at whether it would be cheaper over the long term to bring that in house versus to relieve it with ABSU?

Did you get involved in that analysis or did you review EGD's analysis of that?

MR. SUNDARAM:  No, we have not.  LVB, large-volume billing, was repatriated back.  If you look at our close-out report, it does state we need to look at the cost, the feasibility and the risks associated with doing that.

EGD stated that whatever the price they were paying for ABSU to manage the LVB operation will be the same for them to manage it, including the transition of it, for the next six years or seven years.

And, again, we did not get into reviewing, analyzing or ascertaining if it is a fact.

DR. HIGGIN:  They have quoted in evidence --


MR. SUNDARAM:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  -- the price of $2.5 million a year.

MR. SUNDARAM:  I think it's about 20-point-something million over the course of the seven years.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  Thank you.  You didn't get involved in that.  So those are my questions, and thank you for your information.  Thank you.

MR. SUNDARAM:  You're welcome.
Questions by Mr. Quinn:

MR. QUINN:  Good morning, panel.  My name is Dwayne Quinn. I represent Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario.

Up front, I would like to say, on behalf of the Federation, that the collaborative exercise seems to have elicited some positive outcomes, and yet I'm coming up the learning curve to try to figure out, again, how this is all working and how ratepayers are protected.

So I would appreciate if you could answer a few questions of clarification, some of which I will have to answer to the Enbridge -- or ask of the Enbridge panel, but having your insight would be helpful here.

One of the areas of concern I have -- and I'm piecing all the numbers together.  While you don't, as I understand it, have involvement in how the revenue requirement is established -- one of the additional costs that seems to have moved forward from the current system and would be proposed as part of the revenue requirement going forward is a system integration cost.

Now, you did discuss some of the implementation, and if I understand, your overall view was this was a success for implementation, but clearly there was a delay.  And I guess my question of you is:  What, in your view, has Enbridge done to demonstrate the prudency of their steps to manage the implementation and the resulting costs of system integration?

MR. BAUER:  You said you saw an escalation in the integration cost.  Can you explain what you saw, just so I can address it properly?

MR. QUINN:  Again, this is questions I want to ask the Enbridge panel, but there is interest during construction for delays in system integration.  That is an item being moved forward, along with additional costs for system integration it seems otherwise were not accounted for.

MR. BAUER:  I know what you are talking about.  When we put the budget together, they had an initial -- we were planning around $42 million for the SI cost, but there was a component there of 7.5 million that we included that wasn't -- we were still negotiating on that piece, and it was highly likely we would probably use that 7.5 million, which is a total of 49.5.

And that fell within the normal range of what an SI should charge for a project of this size and scope.

What happened was, when we were planning for a 22-month project here, which -- all along Five Point Partners said that was slightly aggressive.  It was slightly aggressive.  We thought this would take 24 or 25 months based upon what we have seen in the market.

During the -- EGD had a bunch of check points throughout the process.  Probably one of the better-managed projects I've seen in terms of executive involvement and just overall involvement from the management team at EGD.

We had weekly meetings and a bunch of sub-meetings on top of that.  Our first initial issue that we dealt with was the blueprint process they were going through and management of that on our monthly reports, and we would document some of the issues there.  And we had disagreements with how that was being managed.

Basically what happened was that phase got delayed three months, okay?  EGD responded by changing out management of the project after that, and they replaced the project manager there after they saw the issues and moved forward.

Then we ran into an issue with the SI around conversion and we had to make a bunch of tough decisions there.  EGD managed the SI and basically got the SI to drop one of their partners and take over the total conversion.

So some of these things, like the conversion piece, was slightly out of EGD's hands.  The way they managed it, they managed it very well considering the problems they had.  That was really an SI-driven issue.  EGD managed it fairly well by forcing the SI to make tough decisions, like drop a partner.

So at the end of the day, I think what they dealt with and the decisions they made were good decisions based upon where they were at that time.  They were quick to respond to issues, and -- I guess that's where I'll leave it.

We ended up using a portion of that 7.5 million that we were pretty sure we were going to anyway, and that was included in the budget.  So I don't see that as going over budget.  Over timeline, yes, and I haven't been on a project where we went over the timeline and not increased the budget; we didn't do that here.

MR. QUINN:  Maybe that's the part -- you've provided a comprehensive answer, thank you, in terms of the diligence of management.

But maybe that's what I'm stuck on here.  You reference the 7.5 million, and then you moved to 49 and a half million.

Could you just give me context for those two numbers?

MR. BAUER:  You want to go ahead?

MR. SUNDARAM:  Yes.  The total budget that was pre-approved for implementation was $118.709 million, out of which the system integration cost, SI cost, was 42.

There was a the seven and a half -– there was an option for EGD to come after the IR period, current IR period, to request for that additional 7-1/2 million dollars, purely for SI costs only, because benchmarking suggested that SI costs to go up to $50 million for this size.  So there was this money available for EGD later on if they had run out of cost.  So that's what –- and Mario mentioned 42 to $49.5 million.  That seven and a half is purely for system integration cost.

MR. BAUER:  We felt very strongly when they put that put that budget together they were going to use that money from the get-go.  That's why we had that as an option there for them to use, because we felt that SI number was low based upon comparable projects.  And sure enough, they used it.

MR. SUNDARAM:  Many of you, I'm sure, have been on large projects.  If you give a project team all the money, they will end up using it, so always better to hold back a little bit as contingency.

That's the way it was done here.

MR. BAUER:  Because our fear was if we gave them – well, if the budget was 49.5, they would come back and ask for 56.5 later.

I'm not saying that would have happened, but that was the thinking behind it.

MR. QUINN:  That is helpful.  I guess I have to have some dialogue with my counterparts in the consultative, but I -- I want to understand a point you had said, that you thought the 22 months was slightly aggressive.

Was that information given to Enbridge?  And what was their response?

MR. BAUER:  Yes, it was.  I believe it was actually 22 and a half months and -- to be exact.

And Mr. McGill here is nodding his head.  I was off a little bit.

But we put that together in one of our reports, that we thought the timeline was slightly aggressive based on comparable projects in the industry.  They felt confident based upon their project plan.  Well, we said:  All right.  We'll agree to disagree on this one.  And we adjusted as we went forward.  At the end of the day, I still focussed on:  We hit our budget targets, and quality and scope.  So yes, we did go over, but...

MR. SUNDARAM:  The key criteria, the objective goal for EGD is to go live before light-up season.  So they had an aggressive target to go live earlier on, but they wanted to make sure that they have enough runway that they don't run out of, just in case there was a delay.  And that was the whole premise of the timing of 22 months.

MR. QUINN:  I guess if I understand the statement you made that they were on budget, they were on budget with the $50 million budget as opposed to the $42 million budget?

MR. BAUER:  Yes, but the intent, I think, was that 7.5 in there was part of the budget, I felt, the whole time.  That's the way I looked at it.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.

I'm trying to piece together some of my questions, because Board Staff and our friends at VECC have covered some of the questions I had intended.

But I guess I wanted to focus on a couple of areas that, again, will be coming back to Enbridge.

The large-volume billing has been repatriated.  Is there a reason that you identified large-volume billing as an area that would be most easily repatriated?

MR. SUNDARAM:  There's obviously risk associated with moving operations from one location to another, or later on, once that was provided, bringing it back.  But from EGD's rationale or reasoning behind that, it's because it's large-volume priority customers and ensuring that you give top-notch service.  It probably is handled better -- they –- in-house, in-staff with ABSU.

And that was a decision they had made.  This is after the fact.  At that time, there was, again, probably risks associated with moving that, but they have done that, transitioned that seamlessly, and it seems to be working okay right now.  And they have been in effect since, I believe, May of 2011.

MR. BAUER:  I would like to add on to that.

What we see with most utilities, they take a very special interest in their large-volume commercial customers.  A large majority of their revenues come from those customers, so it's not unusual to have a utility either repatriate those, or take a special interest if it is outsourced, in terms of how those customers managed, because most of their revenues come from those customers and that's where their profits come from.

Residential customers are really not making the profit margins there, as they do with the large commercial customers.

So there is a lot of hand-holding.  They go out of their way; special service is offered to those customers.  And it was EGD's perspective, I believe, the way they thought about it was:  We would rather handle this, since they're our customers, than have, potentially, an outsourcer handle them.

And it makes sense.  That's what we're seeing across the industry.  In fact, everywhere I go when we do these implementations, even if it is in-house, the question always is:  How are we going to handle our large-volume commercial customers?  So it's always a question that's asked.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

When Enbridge was taking on a decision whether to repatriate or not, did they provide an estimate to you for your view as to, based on your experience, if that would be a reasonable cost to repatriate?

MR. SUNDARAM:  We haven't done enough analysis to comment on that.  The total cost for the contract was $430 million over the seven years, out of which $19.2 million will be for handling large-volume billing.

EGD's statement was:  We are going to keep that 430 as the budget, but that 19.2 we require for transitioning LBV in-house and managing it.

But we don't have any details or we were not mandated to look at exactly how much it would have cost them to bring them in, or whether it's even feasible for that budget.

MR. QUINN:  I appreciate there's lots of numbers floating around and sometimes it's hard to keep them all straight.  The template is a helpful tool, but your referencing a 19.2 million that's being held onto.

Can you help me with understanding that?

MR. SUNDARAM:  I'm just actually going back into the report that you probably should have before you.  It's part of appendix B.

MR. BAUER:  You probably have a lot of reports in front of you, so...

MR. SUNDARAM:  You can actually go here.  It's part of the prefiling.

MR. QUINN:  Is it part of Enbridge's evidence package?

MR. BAUER:  It probably is in there, yes.

MR. SUNDARAM:  Sorry, Exhibit B, tab 4, schedule 2.

MR. SCHUCH:  This is the slide deck, is it?

MR. SUNDARAM:  Yes, it is.

MR. SCHUCH:  Have you got a reference for which slide?

MR. SUNDARAM:  Yes.  It's slide 32.

So that's the total contract value, the first line item, 430, and large-volume billing is $19.2 million.  And so the -- that is brought back in.

MR. QUINN:  That's helpful.  I appreciate the reference, because I did have a question to that, that I thought was answered in some of the evidence.

But were you asked to comment -- I think I heard you say before you haven't had enough experience, but were you asked at all to comment when the decision was taken?

MR. SUNDARAM:  No.

MR. BAUER:  That wasn't part of our mandate.

MR. QUINN:  Now, I'm not even sure which is the best set of numbers to look at, but what I guess -- there again, there was numbers thrown around in terms of cost per customer, and Roger was referencing 18.6.

Do you have a comparable cost for the first generation relative to what the cost per customer was in the first generation of this system?

MR. BAUER:  We didn't have the contract.

MR. SUNDARAM:  You are talking about service agreement outsourcing or the --


MR. QUINN:  Maybe I can lead you to -- it's slide 18.  You've got market comparisons here.  So this is, Roger said, 18.6, and I don't think if that was moving forward, Roger?  That's moving forward, so it's 18.9.

MR. SUNDARAM:  That requires some clarification from me.  Roger's question was the revenue requirement calculation and what was allocated for 2013, and he delivered a number of customers to come up with 18.6.

This here is not based on revenue requirement.  This is the total contract dollars, so it's just the actual fees associated with that.  And it's normalized, and there are a bunch of, you know, inflation categories like that removed, so it becomes a market comparable number.

I believe this analysis is done by EquaTerra.  So that's how they come up with -- the market is between 15 to 20 and, you know, it came to 18.9.  That's EquaTerra's analysis.

MR. QUINN:  Can you tell me if I'm comparing apples to apples if I compare the 18.9 in the current contract with the 18.6 that Roger provided going forward?

MR. SUNDARAM:  Absolutely not.

MR. QUINN:  What would be the difference that we're missing?

MR. SUNDARAM:  In the template, they took the total budget, 430, and they -- that is what we were involved in, trying to size -- if that 430 is a reasonable number for that size of the contract or seven years.

That has been populated into the template, and I do not know exactly the mechanism as to how it's been done over the years.  And the calculation to come up with that 18.6 is for one year.  This is more of 430, inflation, COLA, cost allowance, things like that removed, and looking at offshore/onshore, that parameter of factors also removed, whether it's unionized or not, that parameter removed, and to come up with that 18.9.  It is not necessarily -- it is not the same at all.  It's very different.

MR. BAUER:  Anything regards to the template I advise you direct towards EGD when they are up here.  They put that together working with the consultative, and we weren't involved.  So those numbers there, we're just not as familiar with them.

MR. QUINN:  I'll defer some of these questions towards -- to Enbridge, then.  Maybe I can speak more generically.

Right now, we are anticipating, as you talked about in your opening, the difference between first generation, second generation, third generation.  This would be going from first to second?

MR. BAUER:  No, this would be going from second to third.

MR. QUINN:  This is considered second to third.  What, in your experience, could a utility anticipate as the relative cost going forward, going from second generation to third generation?

MR. BAUER:  I can answer that and Ashok can piggyback on if he wants.  There aren't a lot of second to third generations going on out there in the market.  So a lot of it is speculative in terms of what you can say.

We do know there is significant savings going from a first to a second generation, and EGD got those saving, around 26 percent, in that contract.  And they took that out to market, and so on, and so they were able to get that savings and it was very competitive process.

Going from second to third, you know, we can -- a lot of those savings were built in in the first contract, so we didn't expect much.  We pushed for some, and arguably we got those based on the fact the price was flat, but we got more services and SLAs that were beneficial to EGD in that contract.

So you can argue, from that perspective, there was savings there, but it wasn't 26 percent like they got in the first one.  But no one expected that.

We thought the price should stay flat or there should be some savings, and arguably you could say, based upon what you got, there was some savings there.  I can't give you a percentage on that, but there just isn't a lot of market data on that going from second to a third generation.

And I think when you ask EGD, they will probably tell you the same thing.

MR. SUNDARAM:  There are some very nominal efficiency gains, if you will, between second to third generation.  Unusually, the steep curve is from first to second.  That's where the savings usually are.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Again, I'll defer the rest to EGD.  I guess maybe my last question, then, in these discussions -- and I appreciate the work that you've done and your experience applied, and hopefully it will benefit us all for the long term.

A couple of times, Mario, you stopped short of -- you were saying you didn't always -- you started saying -- it sounds like you didn't always agree with Enbridge or 
more -- sometimes you said you weren't popular.

I guess we don't want to do a hindsight, you know, Monday quarterback on this.  From the process that you went through, were there any recommendations, key recommendations, that you made that Enbridge did not adopt, and do you remember the reasons they did not?

MR. BAUER:  Well, there were lots of discussions throughout this process in terms of what they were doing.  We would ask questions and debate things.  Like I said, they have a business to run, and we would look at it from a different perspective.  And there were -- like, on the CIS implementation, the way they tracked the project in phase one we would have done differently, okay?  That was one.

And after we made the recommendations and after they saw they were falling behind when they went to the next phase, they changed that, and were able to make up some time there.  That's one example.

MR. SUNDARAM:  I can talk about one of the things we were suggesting to consider was offshoring all of the call centre operations.  Right now, they are being done at a location in New Brunswick.  We said, Why don't you look at trying to move them?  There's a cost saving associated with that.

The discussion went on, and it just so happened that Enbridge, from their mandate and what their corporate -- like, how they wanted to handle that, they decided maybe that's not the way to go.  So they wanted to keep the operations in New Brunswick.

These are some of the things we saw.  Not being popular, when Mario said, what we meant is that a healthy tension, because you're managing -- you manage that third party independent view of this.  So any time we come up with any new ideas, suggestions, there's this healthy tension between us, which we actually think was the right approach.

MR. BAUER:  Also, there were things throughout the CIS project that Mike and Mr. McGill are very involved with in terms of scope -- potential scope increases on the project that we disagreed with.  At certain times, we discussed them and pushed things to phase 2.

One of the biggest challenges on these projects, they are not really just a software implementation.  It's really a business transformation.  What happens is, a lot of times, they start piling more onto the project, and that's always the biggest challenge, containing the scope, because when it gets too big, you can't possibly hit the budget and time line, stuff like that.

As the business would say, Well, since you are doing this implementation, I know the application can do X, Y and Z.  Why don't you add that?

So we had some significant discussions on what should be added and what shouldn't be added, and it's always been my approach on these projects to contain scope.  That's always one of the biggest challenges.

There is always a good argument to add on to the scope, but you can always do that in phase 2 or 3.  So that was always a challenge, as well.

We would have discussions, if it wasn't a regulatory requirement from my view, and if we can meet that business requirement another way, we wouldn't change the scope.

Certain cases we did change things, and certain cases we didn't.  That's part of the healthy tension that we had.  I think if we weren't there to discuss these things, the scope could have gotten bigger and we would be looking at a different budget right now and having EGD trying to justify it, which in a way, I can understand how they could justify these things.  But we didn't see the value in some of these right out of the gate, because the pressure on the project, as it was, was enough.

These are just typical things we deal with on a daily basis in this industry, that most utilities, they will go through one of these through their career and -- one or two, and usually the guys involved will only want to go through one, because it's a very painful situation.

We were able to share that experience with them, and I think that's where some of the healthy tension came from.  I think at the end of the day, it worked out.

MR. SUNDARAM:  The healthy tension improved quality, reduced cost.  That's the ultimate, and that's what we wanted.

MR. BAUER:  Part of our job, too, was the focus of the healthy tension wasn't always us focusing on EGD; sometimes it was on the SI.  It's depending where the issues were, so we were truly independent in this process.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you very much. 

MS. SEBALJ:  I'm assuming there are no other questions from anyone in the room.

MR. STEVENS:  I just had one we question, if it's okay.

I think I heard you say this in a roundabout way to Mr. Quinn's last question, but I just wanted to confirm what I think I heard.

Is it fair to say, then, that there were no key recommendations made to Enbridge that Enbridge did not follow through on?

MR. SUNDARAM:  That's correct.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you. 

MR. SUNDARAM:  Nothing significant.

MR. BAUER:  nothing significant.  I mean, there's always some things, but something significant?

MR. SUNDARAM:  Not that I can think of.

MR. BAUER:  The only -- no, I can't really think of one.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you. 

MS. SEBALJ:  Do you have anything to add?  No?

Why don't we take a morning break?  Let's say for 20 minutes, until 11:20-ish, and then we can start with the Enbridge panel.  So this panel is dismissed, with our thanks.

MR. SUNDARAM:  Thanks.

MR. BAUER:  Thank you very much.

--- Recess taken at 11:02 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:26 a.m.

MS. SEBALJ:  All right, let's get started.  Mr. Stevens, did you want to introduce your panel?

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you very much.  The panel today is comprised of, starting from the far right, Kevin Culbert, Steve McGill, Michael Mees and Robert Wood.  
ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 2


Kevin Culbert


Steven McGill

Mike Mees


Robert Wood
Questions by Mr. Stevens:

MR. STEVENS:  We have just some very brief introductory comments before getting into questions.  I would like to start by asking each of the witnesses to please introduce yourself and explain what your role has been in the process leading up to this application.

MR. CULBERT:  Certainly.  My name is Kevin Culbert. I'm manager of regulatory accounting at EGD.  My role within the customer care/CIS consultative has been to determine the cost inclusion with respect to the CIS asset on line 3 of the template, both through the 2007 through '12 settlement agreement, and in determining the impacts of the additional system integrator costs that Mr. Bauer and Mr. -- Ashok spoke to earlier, and their impacts going forward.

So that's mostly my role, as well as ensuring the template is functioning properly in terms of mathematics, et cetera.

MR. McGILL:  I am Steven McGill.  I am manager within the customer care group at Enbridge.  My responsibilities include oversight of the open bill access third party billing program, and I also do planning work with respect to customer care, business functions and computing systems.

I also was responsible and headed the development of the customer care strategy that we put together in 2010.

MR. MEES:  I am Michael Mees.  While I am currently the general manager of Niagara region, my previous role was director of customer care for Enbridge, and in that role I was responsible for all customer care activities, including the services provided by Accenture and those under the customer care services agreement.

I was responsible for the negotiation of the extension of the Accenture contract.

MR. WOOD:  My name is Robert Wood.  I'm a consultant that was brought in by Enbridge to assist in reviewing the current arrangement with Accenture.  I helped review and evaluate the materials provided by EquaTerra and by Five Points, and I assisted Mr. Mees and his team in the negotiations with Accenture.

MR. STEVENS:  Thanks very much, gentlemen.

Turning to the application, I would like to start with a brief discussion of the activities of Enbridge and the stakeholder steering committee over the past couple of years.  And perhaps starting with you, Mr. Culbert, can you please begin by discussing the activities of Enbridge and the consultative group related to the new CIS system implementation?

MR. CULBERT:  Certainly.  As we heard discussions with Mr. Bauer and Ashok - I'm not sure how to pronounce his last name - Sundaram, throughout the completion and implementation of the CIS system, Five Point was meeting with the company on an ongoing basis and learning of the status and growing pains that were being experienced with the implementation of CIS.

We also were meeting with the consultative group to inform them of the status and the delay in implementation, along with Five Point, and our expectations of when in fact the system would be implemented on an ongoing basis.

So there was considerable meetings between the group, including Five Point, as we were going through the implementation stage.

MR. STEVENS:  Through that process, were there discussions around any outcomes that would have to be reflected in future regulatory proceedings?  In particular, I'm referring to the portions of the 2007 settlement agreement which discussed the anticipated cost of this new CIS and how that would be reflected at the end of the term of the first template.

MR. CULBERT:  Yes, there were ongoing discussions about what the cost changes were relative to, what was driving the cost changes, and how the original agreement allowed treatment of those going forward from 2003 onwards.

There was no adjustment to be made inside of the template for 2007 through '12.  All of the implications of that template are set in stone and they are to be included into rates going forward.

Yes, there were discussions about what the requirements were of the change in spend for 2013 onwards.

MR. STEVENS:  Was there any outcome to those discussions?

MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  The outcome of the consultative group, and as commented on by Five Point, was that the costs were deemed to be reasonable, prudent management of the company and of the costs required.

As mentioned, the $42 million that was included in the original template was a place holder for the system integrator costs anticipated at that time.  But it was also understood that it was just a place holder because the contract had not been finalized at that time and that there was an additional $7.5 million of expected costs or probable costs that would come about.

MR. STEVENS:  So based upon all that, what was the provisional agreement or the tentative agreement that was reached between Enbridge and the stakeholder steering committee we see reflected in this application?

MR. CULBERT:  The agreement was that the information you see at Exhibit B, tab 3, schedules 3 and 4, the implications of the additional spend within the revenue requirement going forward were accepted as being reasonable, allowed by the original template and accepted by all parties to the consultative.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Turning to Mr. McGill, can you please discuss the activities of Enbridge and the steering committee related to Enbridge's ongoing customer care activities?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.  As Kevin indicated, I guess early in 2010, the first half of 2010, the stakeholder committee was still working with us with respect to the close-out of the CIS project.  The final costs of the project were being established.

And at more or less the same time, I started to work on the development of our customer care strategy early in 2010, and the reason we needed to do that is because there are very long lead times associated with going to market for a contract like we have with Accenture, you know, on the order of a year.

Then there is fairly long notice provisions in the Accenture contract with respect to whether or not we wanted to extend it or terminate it on its normal expiry date of March 31st, 2012.

So I had initiated the project.  We were still talking to the consultative with respect to the close-out of the CIS arrangements.  And in April 2010 I attended a meeting with the consultative or the stakeholder group and basically gave them an overview of what we were trying to do with respect to the customer care strategy, that we were starting to develop that, and that it was our intention to keep them informed as to what we were doing with respect to the development of that strategy.

So as the strategy was developed and completed in June of 2010, the first step was to basically initiate a sole-source RFP with Accenture.  We discussed that with the steering group.

At about that point in time, Five Point was brought back into the discussions with the steering group, and we commenced this process of, I guess, negotiating with Accenture, and it was structured around an RFP process where we had initially issued an RFP early in July 2010 and Accenture responded to that.

We revised our request.  They responded to that, and I think we went through three iterations of that that got us to November of 2010.  And throughout that process, we were working with the steering group, with oversight from Five Points, and that's what led us to the conclusion that we should extend the agreement we had with Accenture, subject to certain changes with respect to scope and service levels and the fees.

And the result of that process is that when we factor that into the total set of customer care costs that we're requesting in this proposal, that apart from 2013, where we have an increase due to the recovery of the CIS capital and the loss of the capital cost allowance benefit on that asset in 2013, in every other year of the proposal, the actual total cost per customer actually declined somewhat.  And we believe that we've landed on a very attractive proposal that's in the best interest of the company and our ratepayers.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.

Now, Mr. Mees, with Enbridge having reached a tentative agreement with the stakeholder steering committee in respect of the CIS capital costs and in respect of the extended and updated Accenture contract, how did we get from there to this application which we're now considering?

MR. MEES:  So we were able to reach a tentative agreement with the steering committee on the CIS and on the customer care Accenture agreement.  Then we held discussions with the stakeholder committee on how we could get this agreement approved by the Ontario Energy Board.

After those discussions, both Enbridge and the steering committee believed that the best approach was to extend the existing CIS customer care settlement agreement that we reached back in 2007.  So this extension would include all of the customer care related costs, including the CIS costs and the Accenture contract.  And we – once we had done that, we had agreed that we wanted to bring all of the stakeholders into the process.

So the process to date had worked well.  The consultative process was very transparent, but then we needed to involve all interested parties.

So as a result, Enbridge brought forth this application in June to extend the 2007 settlement agreement, and we believe that this existing settlement agreement and the extension of that agreement have been beneficial to both ratepayers and to the company.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  

Just as a final question for Mr. Culbert -- and this is something Mr. McGill alluded to -- if you turn up, please, Exhibit A-2-2, which is what we've referred to as the 2013 template?

MR. MEES:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  Can you please explain the reasons why there is a somewhat substantial difference between the revenue requirement for CIS and customer care costs in 2012 versus what's being forecast on a smooth basis for 2013?

MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  If you look at page 2 of that exhibit, line 22, column F shows the 2012 original settlement agreement agreed-to rate impact or revenue requirement of the overall customer care CIS solution.

That number, if you compare it to the first page, line 16, the same column, column F, shows that in fact the anticipated costs of the total customer care CIS solution was significantly different, and the reason behind that is that the CIS asset was agreed, and the smoothing technique in the original template essentially took account of all of the CCA associated with the CIS asset through the end of 2012.

MR. STEVENS:  Just to interrupt, can you explain what you mean by "CCA"?

MR. CULBERT:  Sorry.  In the CIS asset, there is booked depreciation that's allowed, and for tax purposes, there's -- it's capital cost allowance, which is tax-deductibility.


For tax purposes, it was agreed in the original template and agreement that all the CCA would be taken into account for the purpose of setting rates through the end of 2012.

Along with that, the smoothing technique employed in the original template saw that the revenue requirement required for -- or the rates requirement required for 2012, at $99 million, was somewhat different from what the total cost would be if the CCA and the smoothing technique hadn't been employed.

Having said that, if you look to the same row, 22, column H, which is the 2013 total customer care CIS revenue requirement, that that CCA benefit or tax deductibility is no longer available in 2013, which essentially accounts for the majority of the increase in the total revenue requirement of customer care and CIS.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.

And just for reference, if I understand right, that's what's described at Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 1, paragraph 8?

MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Those are my questions for the panel.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Colin, before you go, do you want people who are going to do friendly questions to go first, or do you care?  I realize this is not cross-examination, but...

MS. SEBALJ:  No, I think it makes sense for the steering committee members, if they have questions, to go first, if that's what you mean.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am going to have a few; not very many.

MS. SEBALJ:  I don't know among the three of you who wants to go, but go ahead, Jay.
Questions by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So my first question is –- I don't know who it was talking who was talking about the April 2010 meeting.  Was Mr. Bauer at that meeting?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, I believe he was, subject to check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Was he retained on the customer care strategy at that time, or later?

MR. McGILL:  I believe it was later.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The second thing is I'm looking at the template, and what I would like you to do, if you can - I would like an undertaking to do this - is to calculate the cost per customer of providing the new CIS, including all costs associated with the CIS, basically lines 1 to 7, from the time it was implemented until the end of this template in 2018.

We think this number is $15.20 per customer, but if could calculate that and show us the calculation, we would appreciate that.

MR. McGILL:  Yes, we can undertake to do that.

MR. STEVENS:  I assume you mean on annual basis, Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, that's right.

MS. SEBALJ:  It's JTC1.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.3:  TO SHOW COST PER CUSTOMER OF PROVIDING THE NEW CIS ON AN ANNUAL BASIS FROM IMPLEMENTATION UNTIL END OF TEMPLATE IN 2018.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then my last question is with respect to the cost per customer of all customer care costs, and I'm going to ask you to confirm some numbers.  I think you'll have to do this by undertaking, as well.

I would like you to confirm that the total actual cost per customer in $2,007 was $51.21 per customer.

We'd just done that by dividing line 16 by line 17.  And your projecting that in 2018 it will be $59.33, which is, again, line 16 divided by line 17, which is a 1.3 percent per year increase over that period of time.

If you could undertake to provide those numbers?

MR. McGILL:  Yes. We can undertake to do that calculation and confirm those figures.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's all my questions.  Thanks.

MS. SEBALJ:  JTC1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.4:  TO CONFIRM THAT THE TOTAL ACTUAL COST PER CUSTOMER IN $2,007 WAS $51.21 PER CUSTOMER.

MR. THOMPSON:  I don't know how friendly this will be, but I'll go.

[Laughter]
Questions by Mr. Thompson:

MR. THOMPSON:  It's not in my nature to be friendly.  I just wanted to understand the scenario where we don't get an agreement on these lines that are still open for negotiation.  Could you just explain to me what the company is asking for in that scenario?

MR. STEVENS:  You are speaking of the lines other than 3 and 10A?

MR. THOMPSON:  Correct.

MR. STEVENS:  From discussions we've had so far, I don't think that the company yet has a firm plan as to how to proceed, depending on what remains outstanding.  I think it would depend on the breadth of what remains un-agreed.

I don't think it's something that we can speak to at this moment.  As you know, the Board has scheduled a hearing to deal with all matters in early September, but in terms of the relief that Enbridge would seek and whether it would be relief in respect of each line of the template, if nothing else was resolved, I don't think we have any set determination yet, Mr. Thompson.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, am I correct that you need something with respect to line 10A in September, to satisfy the condition in the ABSU deal?

MR. MEES:  Yes.  We need to -- if we don't have an agreement in place or a Board approval by the end of September, we will then need to extend the existing customer care arrangement, or at least enter into discussions with Accenture on extending that agreement, because, as of right now, as of March 31st, 2012, we do not have an agreement and we will have to make sure the customer care services are provided on April 1st and thereon.

And as a result -- there's a six-month notice period in the existing arrangement that we need to have that finalized by.

MR. THOMPSON:  So my question is:  Can that extension contingency be avoided if the Board were to approve line 10A only?

MR. MEES:  Yes, I suppose it could.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  Now, with respect to line 10A - and you probably want to turn up your answer to Interrogatory No. 2, Board Staff Interrogatory No. 2.  I think if you go to page 5 of 9 -- it starts at page 4 where you are discussing this item.

This relates to a discussion that I think Mr. Quinn had with the previous witnesses about the backing out of the large volume billing and collections function.  Do you recall that discussion?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  If I'm reading this interrogatory response correctly, you have elected to bring that in house.  That election has been made; is that right?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, we have actually done that.  It was implemented earlier in the year.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So, technically, the total amount in line 10A in each year and the grand total in column N for that aspect of the matter is really no longer within the ambit of what you have to pay to Accenture; is that right?

MR. McGILL:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.

MR. McGILL:  We could move some of the dollars with respect to the cost of that business function from line 10A to I believe it's line 12, the Enbridge customer care back office line.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, could I ask you to do that, revise the template and do that?  And just to nail it down, there were some numbers in the Five Point study, year-by-year numbers.

Are those the numbers that would get moved, or would they be some different numbers?

MR. McGILL:  I believe so, subject to check.  The figures in the Five Point study I don't believe -- no, they were the final figures, so they should be the numbers we will move, but I will confirm that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So just so that I'm clear, when we move it to line 12, then can there be further discussion on the costs you are going to incur in house with respect to that particular function, or do you regard that as resolved?

MR. McGILL:  I guess in the first instance, I would regard it as resolved, but there still several parts of this proceeding that we've yet to take part in.  So I imagine they would be discussed next week as part of the settlement conference.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, then if we could have a revised I guess 2013 template with 10A adjusted to shift that item to line 12, that would be appreciated.

MR. McGILL:  Yes, we can do that.

MS. SEBALJ:  JTC1.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.5:  TO PROVIDE UPDATED 2013 TEMPLATE WHICH MOVES LINE 10A COSTS TO LINE 12.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  Now, the other questions I have relate to these unresolved line items, I just have a few to understand this.

Now, if you go to -- I think it's your pre-filed Exhibit B, tab 5, schedule 2.

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  As I understand it, this presentation differs from what's at Exhibit A, tab 2, schedule 2, because Exhibit B, tab 5, schedule 2 has actual amounts to 2010.  Have I got that straight?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  As you say, back in this Board Staff interrogatory response, Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 2, various line items that are still in play have been, as I understand it, escalated based on -- using the 2010 actuals as the starting point.  Have I got that right?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And that's all explained in your exhibit.

Now, in terms of 2011, what is being shown here in Exhibit B, tab 5, schedule 2?  Are these budgets, and, if so, what budgeted -- these are not template amounts that were the Board approved, but they are I think budget numbers.

MR. McGILL:  Yes.  These are budget numbers for 2011 and 2012 in columns E and F of B, 5, schedule 2.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the vintage of the budget for those numbers is what?

MR. McGILL:  It was early this year, I believe February.

MR. THOMPSON:  So internally for 2011, do we have -- are numbers available to show where we are currently in 2011 relative to this budget?  So it would be six months actual, six months forecast, something like that.  Are those numbers available?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, the six and six forecast would be available.

MR. THOMPSON:  So could I ask for that, then, with respect to 2011 for the line items that are still in play?  So it would 4 to 6, and lines 10B to 13.

MR. McGILL:  Just so I understand the undertaking, what we would be doing is updating column E for 2011 in Exhibit B, 5, schedule 2?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, to show six --


MR. McGILL:  Six and six.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, great.  Thanks.

MS. SEBALJ:  JTC1.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.6:  TO PROVIDE UPDATED NUMBERS COLUMN E FOR 2011 IN EXHIBIT B, TAB 5, SCHEDULE 2

MR. THOMPSON:  There have been a number of questions asked about the inflation rate used to smooth the initial template, and also being used to, as I understand it, smooth the template beyond 2013, and that number is 1.77580 percent.

Can somebody tell me how that was derived?

MR. CULBERT:  Certainly.  For the first template, the way the annuity factor had to be calculated was, once the total amount of customer care CIS costs became known, which, if you look at the Exhibit A-2-2, was $569 million, approximately, as part of the process in the true-up phase, it also became known that the place holder that was agreed to for 2007 was $90.8 million.

So the annuity factor was a pretty simple calculation.  If you knew you had to collect $569 million over the entire term and you knew you had agreed to $90.8 million for the first year, being 2007, you needed to find whatever the multiplier was that would allow you to collect incremental revenues year to year to achieve the $569 million.

That's how the annuity factor was determined in the first template.  The annuity factor that was used in the second template was purely for consistency purposes.  We know what the total amount is that we've included in the template that we feel needs to be recovered, and the choice of the annuity factor was simply to continue with the -- in the same vein as the initial template.

MR. THOMPSON:  But if we can get that total number for 2013 to 2018 solved, am I right that a new annuity factor will fall out of the process?

MR. CULBERT:  Along with -- if we solve for the entire picture for the six-year period and we also solve what we believe to be the proper cost for the first year, being 2013, then yes, we can solve what the annuity factor would be.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thanks.

MR. McGILL:  Just to be clear, the factors that are used to forecast the line items other than lines 10A and lines 3 in the template have nothing to do with that annuity factor.  I think, in reading a lot of the interrogatories, it seemed that people were assuming that that annuity factor was an inflator used to predict future costs for some of the line items, and that's definitely not the case.

So the annuity factor was strictly there to facilitate the smoothing of the annual revenue requirement from year to year in the 2007 template, and we have just carried that forward for the 2013 through '18 period.

When we're forecasting the individual costs per line item, we're using different inflators.  And we have set those out, and I believe it's our response to Board Staff Interrogatory 7 or schedule 7.

MR. THOMPSON:  I understood that.  I was just trying to --


MR. McGILL:  I just wanted to make it clear.

MR. THOMPSON:  -- verify on the record.

MR. SCHUCH:  Am I allowed to jump in?  Because I wanted to ask a question about that very thing, and it's -- now that we're on the topic.

MR. THOMPSON:  Go for it. 

MR. SCHUCH:  It's nothing but friendly.

I'm just trying to understand the annuity factor versus an annual escalator or inflation factor here.  If I get my calculator out and I look at columns, you know, 2013 to 2018, and I use the factor that's cited as an annuity factor, of 1.7758, and just multiply each number, I will get the next year's number.

So to me that -- mathematically it's saying that it's the equivalent of an inflation factor.  So I'm getting confused.

MR. McGILL:  You have to understand the way these -- really the annuity factor is what falls out of the calculation, because what we're starting out with, if you look at the dollars between 2013 and 2018, you would start off by taking the 2012 actual number or un-smooth number, multiplying it by the 1.7758; that would get you 2013.  So you are correct.

But the way we determine that what factor is is we're saying we know we're starting off with the 2012 un-smooth figure, and we know we have to end up between 2013 and 2018 recovering $758 million.

So when we calculated the factor originally when we did the 2007 template, it was just designed to get us from 90.8 million in 2007, such that the annual totals would recover the 590 million by the end -- or 569, I think the correct number is, by the end of 2012.

So that annuity factor is basically what falls out of the calculation when you're trying to recover a total amount of money over a certain number of years.

MR. SCHUCH:  But isn't it interesting that it ends up being the same factor for the existing five-year period as the project five-year period? 

MR. McGILL:  But that's just the way the formula works.

MR. CULBERT:  We're just taking the total amount to be recovered and solving whatever the -- like you said, call it an inflation factor, call it an annuity factor.  We're just solving backwards, so...

MR. SCHUCH:  I think it could be that we're talking about the same thing.  But you were very clear in your response to the Board Staff interrogatory that it is not inflation, right?  It is something different.  It's annuity.  But mathematically I think it ends up being the same thing.

MR. McGILL:  We're using the same formula, but in the 2013 to '18 time period, we're actually applying it backwards.

So when we did it in 2007, we knew the starting point, we knew the total dollar value we had to collect, but we didn't know the factors.  So we solved for the factor.

In 2013 to '18, we know the end total we need to recover over that period of time, and we knew the factor, so we solved for the starting point.

MR. CULBERT:  Just we worked backwards.

As Peter Thompson was suggesting, if you come up with a different total and decide on a different start point, then the annuity factory, inflation factor -- call it what you will -- will be a new fall-out number.  And he's exactly right.

MR. SCHUCH:  I think I get it now.  Thanks.

MR. THOMPSON:  It's like a placeholder for the time being.

MR. CULBERT:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Just in terms of what's in play outside of these lines, that 3 and 10A, less the large-volume, I think if I look at either one of these exhibits, line 3 is the CIS, and from our perspective that's -- we're content with that number.  But the remaining numbers are subject to further discussions.  And I make the total there in the column N to be in the order of $83 million.

Would you take that, subject to check?  That's lines 4, 5 and 6. 

MR. McGILL:  Subject to check, Peter.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then down below, line 10A, if we take out the large-volume, I think that would be based on the numbers in the Five Point report, something close to $300 million?

Would you take that, subject to check? 

MR. MEES:  Mr. Thompson, can you just repeat that?

MR. THOMPSON:  On line 10A, which is 318,594,447, in column N, that's the ABSU deal, less open bill?

MR. MEES:  Less open bill and ABC, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Open bill and ABC?  Okay.  And so but the to come out of that, based on my other questions, is something in the order of 19 million based on the Five points report?

MR. McGILL:  There would be an extra year to add onto the 19, so it would be in the order of 21 to 22 million with respect to large-volume.

MR. THOMPSON:  So just rounding that roughly, it would be 300 million is the ABSU component of that line? 

MR. McGILL:  Yes, subject to check.  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So the line above it, 498,307,159, that, as I understand it, is the sum of lines 10A, 10B and -- sorry, 10A and 10B and 10C; is that...

MR. McGILL:  That is correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Is there a 10C there?  Okay.

So just taking those two lines, that's about -- and adding the -- just taking those two lines, that's about 180 million in play.  For further discussion, when I say in play.  Lines 10B and 10C?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then the next two lines total about 39 million, and then of course you would have to add the -- add the long -- large customer number to line 12.

So it's those items that remain subject to further negotiation?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, in terms of, then, the way you've built up those line items, I think we find the description for that in Exhibit I, schedule 2?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  So lines 4, 5 and 6, how you've built those up are described in -- at pages 2 and 3 of your answer to Board Staff 2?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And lines 10 -- sorry, 10B, 10C, 11 and 12, they are also described in this exhibit?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  They refer to inflation rates that I think you set out in --


MR. McGILL:  I-1-7.

MR. THOMPSON:  -- I-1-7, inflation and CPI rates, and where did you -- so if we can just go to I, tab 2, schedule 7, you have CPI, 2011, 2 percent, going to 2.6 percent in 2018.

Where do those numbers come from?

MR. McGILL:  These are figures that are prepared by our economic studies group that we use for our budgeting purposes, and they are based on a composite of a number of forecasts that are prepared by different financial institutions.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the wage inflation number, you are showing 3.6 percent in 2011 and various numbers thereafter.  Where do those numbers come from?

MR. McGILL:  They are derived the same way.

MR. THOMPSON:  Are those numbers -- do you have -- I was looking up in the incentive regulation formula box of this item, where we have under item A the inflation factor, GDP IPI FDD.  That's an inflation factor in line A?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Do we have those numbers for -- using that approach for the period 2012 to '18, and, if so, can we get them?

MR. CULBERT:  Those GDP numbers are based on information from quarter to quarter.  I would have to check with our economics group to see if that is something they can reasonably forecast on a go-forward basis.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, would do that, and, if they can, would you provide that, please?

MR. CULBERT:  Sure.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.

MS. SEBALJ:  JTC1.7.
UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.7:  TO PROVIDE THE INFLATION FACTOR FOR YEARS 2012 TO 2018.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then just coming back to some of the line items - this is my last area of questioning - taking, for example, line 4, CIS hosting and support, your starting point there is 2010 actual, I think, which would be $6,334,638.

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And you have that number in 2013 up at 7.8 million almost, which looks to me like to me there's a little more than inflation in it.  And if we look at what your description on -- of this, the makeup of this line item in your interrogatory response, it looks like this has got some hardware maintenance and support built into it?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.  There's third party costs for the maintenance and support of the computing hardware that is used by the CIS system.  And the existing contracts for that maintenance come up for renewal, I believe, in 2011 or 2012, and we're anticipating a significant increase in those costs, as the equipment is several years old at that point in time when we'll be renewing those contracts.

MR. THOMPSON:  Could you just give us what it is now in that hardware chunk of this, and what you are forecasting, because this is -- or is that in the record already?

MR. McGILL:  I'll take an undertaking to confirm that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.

MR. McGILL:  I'm struggling just to remember all the interrogatory responses.  It may be in there already.

MS. SEBALJ:  It's JTC1.8.  I just want to be clear for the record that this is breaking out the costs in line 4 of the template, row 4 of the template, into the hardware?

MR. McGILL:  It would be, I guess, third party costs versus internal costs.

MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.8:  TO BREAK OUT THE COSTS IN ROW 4 OF THE TEMPLATE INTO THE HARDWARE COSTS, 2010 ACTUAL VERSUS WHAT IS BUILT INTO 2012.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I was interested in the amount in 2010 actual versus the increment to that piece that you are building into -- is it built into 2012?  I guess it is.

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  And then are there any other line items that are up for further discussion that have buried in them those kinds of adjustments, or are the others primarily escalator driven?

MR. McGILL:  Most of them are escalator driven.  One exception would be line -- well, line 10B and line 10C.  The meter reading contract, we have the ability to work under that agreement until the end of March 2014, and so the dollar values are set based on the contract values that we have in place today up until 2014.  Then in 2014 and beyond, they are inflated using the inflation factors we've listed in I-1-7.

With respect to postage, the forecast there is based on experience with postal rate increases and some adjustments that need to be made to that to take into account correspondence other than issuing regular monthly bills, the fact that the actual average number of bills issued per customer per year is slightly more than 12.  And we were taking into account the renegotiation of the postal workers' contract and making some provision for that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  My last question, then, is on line 3, the new CIS capital cost.  Just to reiterate, the numbers -- I think Kevin said this in his introductory remarks.  The numbers for the period ending 2012 were hard and fast based on the settlement agreement.

So any variations that occurred within the five-year term, they are water under the bridge.  They didn't trigger any changes; is that right?

MR. McGILL:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  So coming to this system integrator adjustment that you discussed in your evidence, my recollection is we had a cap in the deal for that item of $42 million for the initial five years; is that right?

MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  Any adjustment to be made with respect to the system integrator costs was from 2013 onwards in respect of the net book value and its implications from 2013 onwards only, and that is what has been included into the calculation.

So the first period doesn't have any change in revenue requirement whatsoever; correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And am I right that when we made the deal, you didn't actually have the bid from the system integrator finalized; that the RFP process had still to run its course?

MR. McGILL:  That's correct.  The 2007 settlement I believe was resolved sometime late in February 2007, and the RFP for the system integrator for the CIS project didn't close until the end of March 2007.  So the 42 million that was in the original template was a place holder.

MR. THOMPSON:  But it was hard and fast for five years?

MR. McGILL:  Right, yes.  So the $7 million different or 7-1/2 million dollars, we're not requesting to collect depreciation on that for that 2009 through 2012 period.

MR. THOMPSON:  I just want to have that understood.

And the 49-1/2 million was the product of the RFP process?

MR. McGILL:  Exactly.

MR. CULBERT:  We actually only incurred an additional 6.6 million.  The 7.5 was an anticipated amount that Five Point had in mind.  And if you look at evidence, we really only incurred an additional 6.6 million of system integrator costs, in and of themselves, and that's all that's been included from 2013 onwards; no effect for 2012.

MR. THOMPSON:  Less the depreciation that was --


MR. CULBERT:  Correct.  It's a net book value of that spend as of the end of 2012, so the depreciation is being incurred by the company, and is not being recovered going forward.  You're correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the other aspect of this that I think should be on the record is for the period 2013 beyond, you're calculating the revenue requirement for the new CIS at 36 percent equity.  In other words, you're continuing that equity ratio that is imbedded in the initial deal?

MR. McGILL:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  But within the IRM, or whatever it is you've come forward with in rebasing, you might be seeking a higher equity than 36 percent, but it's not going to affect this line, right?

MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thanks very much.

MS. SEBALJ:  Mr. Warren, did you have anything?

MR. WARREN:  I don't have any questions.
Questions by Mr. Schuch:


MR. SCHUCH:  So we'll move to unfriendly cross, then.

Mr. Thompson stole a lot of my thunder, so I'm going to have to have a closer look.

But I did want to look more closely at Board Staff No. 7, which talks about template escalation factors.  And there's a footnote at the bottom of Board Staff 7 that talks about CPI and wage inflation.  I think you've used some of these escalators in your template for various lines, and that's what Mr. Thompson was talking about earlier.

One question I had, you say in the footnote that you used the fall 2010 Enbridge economic outlook.  And I wondered:  Is there a more recent outlook available, or will there be one available shortly?

MR. McGILL:  Well, the process is an annual one, but I would undertake to determine whether or not --


MR. SCHUCH:  Is your microphone on?

MR. McGILL:  Sorry.  The process that generates the economic outlook is an annual process, but I will -- so I would expect we would be updating sometime this fall for next year.

But I will take an undertaking to determine whether or not we have more current figures with respect to these inflation factors.

MR. SCHUCH:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. SEBALJ:  Thanks.  That's JTC 1.8.
UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.9:  TO ADVISE IF MORE CURRENT FIGURES ARE AVAILABLE FOR INFLATION FACTORS.

MR. SCHUCH:  It seems to me -- this is a comment, really –- it seems to me that the wage inflation numbers at 3.6 percent, 3.3, et cetera, in today's economic environment, especially given some of the stuff that's happened over the last few weeks, may be out of date.

MR. McGILL:  Well, I can undertake to find out whether or not we have updated figures.

MR. SCHUCH:  Right.

MR. MEES:  Just to clarify, that was undertaking 1.9?

MS. SEBALJ:  Did I miss --


MR. SCHUCH:  I think it would be 1.9.

MS. SEBALJ:  JTC1.9.  I will trust you, because Colin is the keeper of the list, and I'm just guessing.


MR. SCHUCH:  Thank you.  I would like to also, on the same topic, move to Board Staff 23, where it talks about in-house costs.

And we look at what line items of the template are considered in-house costs, and there's a helpful table on page 2 that kind of breaks them down and comes up with a total in column B of $4.9 million worth of in-house.

MR. McGILL:  That's correct.

MR. SCHUCH:  Also, helpfully, in column C, it talks about what comprises those costs.

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. SCHUCH:  And it would seem that labour, employee development and travel are key components of those costs?

MR. McGILL:  That's correct.

MR. SCHUCH:  Now, can you tell me what escalation factors you would have used in the template for those in-house?

MR. McGILL:  So we're discussing line items 4, 5 and 12 in the template, so if we go back to I-1, tab 2 or schedule --


MR. SCHUCH:  Board Staff No. 2 would have some reference.

MR. McGILL:  That's right.  So it's lines 4, 5 and 12.

So about 500,000 out of 6.3 million in 2010 was internal labour costs.  And we're using the wage inflation factor set out in schedule -- or I-1, schedule 7, with respect to that amount, to forecast it forward into the future years.

The CIS back office, that's pretty much all internal labour, so that's line 5.  And again, we're using the wage inflation factors set out in I-1, schedule 7 to forecast those figures.

And for line 12, I think we're going to have the same answer.  So we're using the wage inflation factors with respect to the internal labour costs for that component of line 12, as well.

MR. SCHUCH:  Yes.  Okay.  Thank you for that.

Now, I know we've touched upon this in a few different places with a few different folks this morning, but I would like to talk about the $20 million variance that we're looking at when we move from 2012 template costs to 2013.

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. SCHUCH:  I believe a lot of this has been addressed in various places here and there, and particularly there's a lot mentioned in Board Staff No. 2.

MR. McGILL:  Right.

MR. SCHUCH:  About this.  But I wondered:  Is there somewhere in the evidence and the interrogatories where there is a clear description of how we arrive at the $20 million variance, in a summary format?

MR. STEVENS:  Sure.  I think I could help you with that, if you like, Mr. Schuch.

At Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 1, paragraph 7 identifies the difference -- and to be clear, it's revenue requirement, not costs.  The costs aren't changing by a whole lot between those two years.  As Mr. Culbert explained, the costs are probably only changing by 2 million, but the revenue requirement difference is explained at a high level at paragraph 8, which is pages 3 and 4 of Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 1.

MR. SCHUCH:  That's helpful.

So we start off at paragraph 8, subparagraph (a), and I see 14.4 million, so I can say, first of all, of the 20, 14.4 is due to the CIS stuff and the capital cost allowance?

MR. CULBERT:  It's due mostly -- or primarily due to the change in or the dropping off of the tax deductibility of the asset, yes.

MR. SCHUCH:  And that's 14.4 million?  Or is there something else included in the 14.4?

MR. CULBERT:  No, that's primarily the CCA.

MR. SCHUCH:  Then if I move to subparagraph (b), and we're talking about –- well, I haven't --


MR. CULBERT:  Of course, there are some impacts in going to the 2013 number from the additional system interrogator costs we spoke about.  And you can see the impact of those changes at Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 3 -- actually, excuse me, schedule 4.

So if you look to that table, there's also some changes in the revenue requirement going forward as a result of the system integrator costs at line 17, 2013 column, and the change in IDC and lower other CIS project costs at line 14.

So in addition to the CCA difference that's occurring, there's also the implication of those additional costs coming into 2013.

MR. STEVENS:  Just to be clear, it's correct that the first 14.4 has to do with CCA, and then the second part that Mr. Culbert is describing is what's described at paragraph 8(a) of Exhibit B-2-1, and that's the difference in the opening rate base value for the CIS asset?

MR. SCHUCH:  You know what I think might be helpful is an undertaking here to get at, in summary format, what are the components of the 20 million.


Would that be a fair undertaking, and break them down into maybe half a dozen, or whatever is necessary, components so that we can, in summary format, understand how we get that 20 million?  Is that a fair undertaking?

MR. CULBERT:  Sure.  I can undertake to do that.

MR. SCHUCH:  Thank you.  I think that would be undertaking 10.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, it's JTC1.10.  I just wanted to clarify, Mr. Stevens.  You meant 8(b), the second piece that the witness was referring to, which was at tab -- at B-3, schedule 3, page 2 of 2, line 14, that references back to paragraph 8(b) of the summary, does it not?

MR. STEVENS:  That's correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  So presumably this undertaking, JTC1.10, will give us a bit of a breakdown of the 14.4 plus 1.4, and what is left, because the first two components are fairly well explained.

MR. STEVENS:  That would be my expectation, is to explain the balance of the $20 million.

MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.10:  TO EXPLAIN THE BALANCE OF THE $20 MILLION IN PARAGRAPH 8(A) OF EXHIBIT B, TAB 3, SCHEDULE 3, PAGE 2 OF 2, LINE 14.

MR. SCHUCH:  Moving on to another little item, in the pre-filed evidence, there is a TMG slide deck.  It is at Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 2.  I was just seeking some clarification of an item in that slide deck entitled "Budget".  And it's slides 7, 8 and 9.

And there's this thing called "Budget", and it's published in October 2009.  It's entitled "Project Close-Out Report".

And I was trying to make some sense of it and trying to understand the context of what this really was talking about, and I wondered if you could explain what this budget is meant to show?

MR. McGILL:  So I'll try and explain this to you, and if I can't do a good enough job, we'll have to take an undertaking and go back and speak to Mario and Ashok.

What they are showing here is the total project budget in the top left section of the page 8 of $120,223,000, and then they go on to say that the actual spending up until the point in time when this was done was $119,484,000.  And we were forecasting another 7.9 million that needed to be spent in order to complete the project, which gets us up to a total value of 127,354,000.

So the net difference is basically an unfavourable variance of 7.1 million.  But then what they go on to say in the second bullet point under the tables is that they took into account that the original budget of 118.9 million was based on the 42 million of system integration costs, and the actual tendering process delivered a result of 49.5 million.

So they are recognizing that based on the settlement agreement, we had another $7.9 million that we could apply to recover.  When you take that account, the total budget of 120,223,000 increases up to something on the order of 127.7 million.  And based on that, we were coming in slightly under that total budget.

So that's what he's trying to speak to in the second bullet here.

MR. SCHUCH:  Given that it's a project close-out report, I'm assuming, then, it's actual cost versus what had been budgeted; is that fair?

MR. McGILL:  Up to the point in time when this was done.  So the date that we're showing here is October 29th, 2009.  We implemented the system in September 2009.

There were still probably some final invoices to be paid, but we would have had a pretty clear understanding of what the amounts were at that point in time.  So that's why they are saying, in the lower left portion of the table, they know we've spend 119.5 million up until that point, and we were forecasting the 7.9 million that we still needed to pay in order to complete the project so...

MR. SCHUCH:  Okay.

MR. McGILL:  Then as it actually ended up, we incurred less than that 7.9 million.  We incurred 6.6 million.

MR. SCHUCH:  Can you explain what the line item is in the upper left, the OEB contingency of 15 million?

MR. McGILL:  In the original budget for the project, there was a contingency amount.  I don't know why it says OEB contingency.  I don't know why they have labelled it that way.

MR. SCHUCH:  Would you know how these numbers relate to the opening balance for the 2013 template?

MR. McGILL:  Over to you.

MR. CULBERT:  How they relate is the original agreed-to spend amount, the 118-some-odd million, it was agreed that it was going to be recovered through the end of 2018.  That remains in place.  There's no change to the net book value relating to those spend amounts, at all.

The only difference that has occurred with respect to the anticipated net book value, again, is for the inclusion of the -- excuse me, the 2012 ending net book value of the additional system integrator costs of $6.6 million, which I believe the net book value is somewhere in the range of 5 million - it's in the evidence - and the other cost underages of $400,000, so the net book value at the end of 2012 for it and the interest during construction changes that occurred and its net book value as of the end of 2012.

But these costs in and of themselves, the net book value has not changed at all with respect to the original spend.  So these are just -- what TMG has in its report here was anticipated spend amounts.  It hasn't changed the net book value that's been included in the template and driving the revenue requirements whatsoever.

MR. SCHUCH:  Thanks.

MS. SEBALJ:  Can you just characterize the 7.5 million for me?  It's been discussed this morning and now, and I'm seeing a contingency, so it's not a contingency.

MR. McGILL:  No.  What happened when the 2007 settlement was agreed to and approved by the Energy Board, we hadn't completed the RFP process for the system integration component of the project.

So in order to facilitate getting the settlement finalized and getting it approved by the Board, we all agreed that we would include 42 million, because at the time that was our estimate of what the system integrator was going to cost us.  And that –- and we did that sometime late in February 2007.

So at the end of March 2007, we completed the RFP and we selected the successful system integrator, and the result was that the system integration cost that we were quoted in that successful bid was 49.5 million.

And there's references in the settlement agreement as to what was going to happen if the actual system interrogation costs differed from the 42 million, which was, if the system interrogator came in at less than 42 million, we were going to reduce the capital value of the project by the difference between the lower number and 42 million.  If the system integrator bid came in higher than the 42 million, we were, I guess, given the opportunity to come back and seek recovery of that extra amount in excess of the 42 million for recovery in rates in 2013 and beyond.

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  And so it wasn't discussed as a hard number; it was just discussed as an overage if it happened as a result of the RFP?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.  There's references to it in the 2007 settlement agreement that we filed in response to one of the interrogatories, where you can -- I don't know.  We were looking at them downstairs earlier today.  I think Kevin is looking for the reference.

But you can see that there that it was anticipated that the actual system integrator costs could be different than the 42 million that was agreed to as the amount in the 2007 settlement agreement.

MS. SEBALJ:  Thanks.

MR. SCHUCH:  One last question.  Now that you've had a chance to put all this together and go through all the interrogatories and be here today, are there any really key points -- if you just a limited amount of time to express them -- any really important points that you would like to emphasize to the Board about this application?

MR. MEES:  To me -- just a couple of points.  I think that the agreement that we've struck and negotiated with Accenture is a good agreement.  It has -– it provides for an increase that is more than reasonable, and subject to Mr. Shepherd's undertaking, you can see that the overall costs increase from 2007 onward and through to 2018 is at a rate that would be below inflation.

So the point that I would like to make is I think what we've put forward as the template is something that -- the ratepayer is getting what I think is a fairly strong deal.

MS. SEBALJ:  Just as a bit of a follow-up to that, we heard this morning about -- Mr. Bauer referred to keeping things in scope.  And I wondered if there were, from your point of view, compromises that were made, value adds for -- probably some increase in costs that were left on the table as a result of compromise, as a result of the negotiations, that you would have liked to have seen as part of the package?

MR. MEES:  Well, I think there's two elements there.

When Mr. Bauer was speaking to scope, he was speaking to the CIS project and managing the scope within that.

And in any significant project -- I mean, this is $120 million project -- there are going to be some give and take.  But I can say as a steering committee member and primarily the owner of this asset, we worked really hard to limit scope.  We wanted like for like.  And there was some –- some things that we had to compromise on, but overall we were able to deliver something that the business and -- being customer care, could live with.

Will there be changes going forward that we want to make to that CIS?  Absolutely.  And we're doing that every single day to make it a better piece of software.  So then that's on the one piece, on the CIS.  Overall, I think the scope, we were able to manage it and we were able to replace like for like.

When it comes to negotiation of the customer care contract, there -- it is a negotiation.  There are elements of the contract that I wish were better, but overall I think we were able to increase the service levels, increase the customer experience, get a stronger contract out of it.

So I think that overall we've been able to negotiate an arrangement that is good for our customers and good for our company.

MS. SEBALJ:  Can you give me an example of something you wish was better?

MR. MEES:  I mean, there's probably elements of the contract that -- I mean, in a perfect world, what would I like to do?  There's probably higher service levels that I would like to have, but there is a price for that, and there is a balance between that service level that we would like to increase and the price we're willing to pay

And you can see that through -- when we got the first -- our first response to our RFP was in the neighbourhood -- it was above the $457 million, and that was our wish list, and we were able to work it through and make sure that we got it down, and we got to the elements that we wanted to make sure we had improvements.  We did get those improvements.  And we made sure that the ones that we wanted to have, we did not compromise on.  So we did not compromise on the things we needed to have in the negotiation.

MS. SEBALJ:  Thanks.  Those are all Staff's questions.
Continued Questions by Mr. Thompson:


MR. THOMPSON:  Can I can ask one question I should have asked previously?

This line 10A -- sorry, the CIS line takes us out to 2018, I think; is that right?  If the Board approves that line?

MR. CULBERT:  It takes us out to 2018.  As a result of the in-service date of the additional spends being September '09, there is some spill-over into 2019.

We anticipate that would be covered off in a 2019 cost of service, or next generation IR, wherever we are at that point in time.  But it only takes us to 2018 for that line, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Is there a scenario where in 2016 you might say:  I'm going to get a new CIS?  And if you did that, all of the tax breaks associated with that would fall into 2016 and 2017 and 2018; how should that be handled?  As a Y-factor or off-ramp or what?

Is that a realistic scenario, do you think?

MR. McGILL:  I guess, first, we wouldn't anticipate replacing this CIS before 2019.

Second, I think if we were contemplating a significant software investment of that kind, I think we would have to come back and figure out a strategy, a regulatory strategy, in order to an address that and determine a reasonable way to recover those costs in rates.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.

MS. SEBALJ:  Can I just get a gauge from Roger and Dwayne as to are we going to be -- shall we plan for a lunch break or is this -- I assume we're planning for a lunch break.

DR. HIGGIN:  I have 15 minutes.

MS. SEBALJ:  And Dwayne?

MR. QUINN:  Twenty to 30 minutes, possibly.

MS. SEBALJ:  How do people feel?  Faint?  I guess we're probably looking at, realistically, at least 1:30 before a lunch break, or take a lunch break at 1:00 and come back.

MR. STEVENS:  I think the witnesses are indicating, if possible, they would prefer a short lunch break.  Some of the witnesses are indicating that.

MS. SEBALJ:  I'm sorry, I haven't even consulted with the court reporter yet.  Sorry, I didn't hear what the consensus was.  Go until we are done or take a break?  I'm completely agnostic.

MR. McGILL:  I think we would like to take a break.

MS. SEBALJ:  Would you like to go ahead with Mr. Higgin's cross until 1:00, and then take a break?

MR. McGILL:  Sure.

MR. STEVENS:  Perhaps this might be an opportune time for a break.  Just before we go on a break, I have one thing I wanted to point out just to fill out the record, because it might be helpful.

There was discussion around what was in the 2007 settlement agreement and how amounts for the CIS asset might be adjusted.  And I just wanted to draw your attention to the fact that that settlement agreement is filed in response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 33, and the key pages for the things we're discussing are pages 12 through 14 of that document.

MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.  So shall we take a break until 2:00?  Does that make sense, an hour and 15?  Does that work for people?  Okay, thanks.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:47 p.m.


--- On resuming at 2:01 p.m.

MS. SEBALJ:  Why don't we get started?

Mr. Quinn, have you – oh, you are going to start, Mr. Higgin?  Thank you.

MR. HIGGIN:  It's rather like the horse parade has passed, but I will try and clean up.

So what I'm now going to do is try to understand four lines on the template, in terms of these parameters.  What is -- we'll call it controllable costs, which is within Enbridge's direct control?  What are costs that are maybe to be contracted?  And then, looking at how those costs have been forecasted, in the template for the period 2013 to 2018?  So that's the idea.

In order to assist us, I'm going to ask you to turn up a number of exhibits.  So if you could have a copy of the template, I've been using Exhibit B, tab 5, schedule 2, simply because it had the historic costs on originally, and that would be an example.

The other thing I would like you to have available, if you have a hard copy, is VECC's Interrogatory Response I, tab 2, schedule 2, page 4, which supposedly shows year-over-year percentage increases in certain costs.  Okay?

Then finally -- this has been referred to --understanding the drivers of those costs will require reference to Board Staff Interrogatory 2.  Okay?

So that's where I'm trying to go, to try and have more understanding of those four lines. 

Okay.  So could we start with the line 4?  Okay?  On the template.  And if we look at line 4, we see, starting with the 2010 base year, we see a cost of $6,334,638.  Okay?  On the template.  That is in column D, and also that cost corresponds to the costs that would be shown on the schedule 23 of Board Staff, which I think was discussed.

So what I'm trying to understand of that 6 million and change there -- let's start with that -- how much of that is in-house costs, and how much is contracted costs.  If you read the description against number 4, it says at the bottom of the box in the right-hand column -- this is, again, tab 1, schedule 2, page 2 -- it says approximately 50 percent of these costs for labour, and the question is:  Whose labour?  And then the second piece is 50 percent for amounts paid to external parties for equipment and maintenance and so on.

So perhaps you could expand my understanding.  This is your hardware running that produces the bills, basically; is that...

MR. McGILL:  It's the cost associated with owning and operating the computing hardware that the CIS system is operated upon. 

MR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Now, referring back to the six million --


MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. HIGGIN:  -- can you provide a breakdown of that six million in terms of those parameters of controllable contracted costs?

MR. McGILL:  And I think we've already taken an undertaking.

MR. CULBERT:  Yeah, JTC1.8, Roger.  We agreed to break out the internal and third-party costs for...

MR. HIGGIN:  What year was that?

MR. CULBERT:  2010.

MR. McGILL:  It would be for 2010.

MR. CULBERT:  Through '12.

MR. McGILL:  Mr. Thompson wanted it for 2012, as well.

MR. HIGGIN:  So that undertaking, just to be clear, will also cover the increase of about a million dollars that is shown in the template?  You will explain where that increase is forecast to happen? 

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So are there any other factors, then, affecting that line, such as a contract renewal?  And if so, when does that happen?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, and I think that's what we referred to in the reply to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 2 with respect to the line in the template, is that the maintenance contract for that hardware comes up for renewal for 2012, and we're expecting a significant increase in that cost.

MR. HIGGIN:  Now, that cost is contracted out, so it's third-party-owned, that equipment?

MR. McGILL:  Not owned, not third-party-owned, but it's a third party that does the maintenance on it for us.  It's Hewlett-Packard equipment and Hewlett-Packard we hired to maintain it.

MR. HIGGIN:  Right.  So there will be a capital cost, an additional capital cost?

MR. McGILL:  No.  It's an O&M cost with respect to maintaining that hardware.

MR. HIGGIN:  So you are not replacing the hardware?

MR. McGILL:  Right now it's not our plan to replace the hardware.  We need to renew the contract for maintenance, and it's a warranty-type contract.

So, you know, that hardware has to be up and running 24 hours a day, seven days a week, with back-up capability.  So the vendor is under contract to do that maintenance for us.

MR. HIGGIN:  Right.  If I read again the description in Board Staff Interrogatory schedule 2, page 2, it could be implied that that hardware is now four to five years old and is scheduled for replacement?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, and that's something that we would have to consider.

MR. HIGGIN:  And where are those costs accounted for, and how will they be accounted for within the CIS costs?

MR. McGILL:  They would be part of our normal capital expenditures.

MR. HIGGIN:  They would not be allocated back to this Function, then?

MR. McGILL:  They would not be recorded back into the template, so if we got into, let's say, 2014 and we found this equipment had to be replaced, then we would have to make a decision.  Do we buy new equipment?  Do we lease new equipment?

And we would make that decision, and we would be at risk to whatever the cost implications of that are.

MR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  I think that helps.  That's clarifying quite a bit what's going on there. 

Just another corollary question regarding CIS and the open bills.  With your bill production costs, which is of course mainly ABSU, it's a function of ABSU, you've contracted now on a per-customer basis going forward for that function; correct?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.  That's part of the billing service that we purchased from ABSU, is -- includes the printing, inserting and mailing of the bills.

MR. HIGGIN:  Right.  So what would happen is – as is happening with many large corporations -- you move towards my account, customers paying their own bills, maybe standing order banks, et cetera.  So i.e., a reduction in the number of bills.

MR. McGILL:  There's a potential for that, and there's a couple of interrogatory questions that -- Board Staff 16, for example -- that inquire about that.

And the position that we have in the contract with Accenture is that it is presuming that they are going to continue to print bills for the same portion of customers they are printing bills for now.

We're getting the benefit of a known price for that service for the term of the agreement out to 2019, and they are taking on the risk and the potential opportunity with respect to having to print fewer bills.

We, on the other hand, would get the benefit of reduced postage costs if we were printing and mailing fewer bills.

DR. HIGGIN:  Let me just run that one -- because that was my next question.  When you say -- how are you going to benefit from those costs?  You pay those costs directly, or does ABSU pay those costs and bill you?

MR. McGILL:  We pay for postage directly to Canada Post.

DR. HIGGIN:  So that would be the potential -- we'll come to the postage line in a minute, I'm sure.  Thank you.  Those help with me understanding what is controllable and not controllable on line 4.

Just come back to, then, line 5, and then I note really 5 and 12 are two sides of the same coin, but basically line 5 is your in-house staffing.  And you've been asked about two things there.  One is the escalator.  You have answered that.

What I'm trying to now understand is what's happening when you repatriate the ABC billing service, and so on.  What is the quantum of those costs, and how do they affect -- I know you are going to give an undertaking, so can you just deal with how that's going to work in terms of those costs?

MR. McGILL:  So you are referring to the agent billing and collection service --


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MR. McGILL:  -- that we provide for gas marketers?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, and large customers, I assume.

MR. McGILL:  Yes.  The service is provided to larger customers directly in some cases, but predominantly to gas marketers that are operating in the mass market, yes.

When we went into the current IR regime, in Enbridge agent billing collection is treated as a non-utility business activity, and there were costs associated with that activity that were removed from cost of service through the non-utility elimination that gave us the cost base the current IR regime was founded on.

So when we go back to rebase for 2013, we're going to have to revisit how we allocate costs to agent billing and collection and reflect that in a new non-utility elimination that's used to help us set the cost base for 2013.

To be clear, there are services we purchase from Accenture that go to support agent billing and collection.  Those have been removed from line 10A, the Accenture costs.  So we're not seeking to recover those direct costs associated with the ABC services part of this application.

DR. HIGGIN:  Could you just clarify, then, the 2.5 million that is referred to in Board Staff schedule 2 on page 4?  Sorry, I've got it wrong there.  I'll just give you the right reference.  It's on page 5 at the top on the right-hand side, talking about 213.  I think actually that's happened, hasn't it, now?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, okay.  So the repatriation of the large volume billing function is completely separate from agent billing and collection.  So I'm not sure what you are trying to get at with your question.

DR. HIGGIN:  What I'm trying to understand is I think you've clarified that ABC's costs are not included in the template.  They're outside of that, and I'm going to clarify what this -- is this a good -- (a) is this a good estimate, 2.5 million, shift from line 10A to 12, or how is this going to be in play, should we say, in the negotiations?

MR. McGILL:  So what we did was, when we requested the initial proposal from Accenture with respect to a contract extension and we went through a few iterations of that process that got us to the final extension agreement that we ended up with, we asked them to price the services to support our large volume customers separately, so that we could see specifically what they would charge us to provide that service.

So when we made the decision to repatriate that service, we believed we could do it at a cost that would be comparable to what Accenture was quoting us, which is roughly 2-1/2 million dollars a year.

What we decided to do is, because we believe we can do that for about the same dollar value, we decided to repatriate the service, because we believe we can add value in terms of a higher level of service to those customers at about the same cost that Accenture was going to charge us to do it.

DR. HIGGIN:  That's not just for the initial year, but that's over the period the template applies to?

MR. McGILL:  Correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  So there would be escalation, then, on this 2.5 million.  That's the amount that would happen -- in fact, it may have happened now.  So that would be under your 3.8 percent, whatever number, for wage inflation?

MR. McGILL:  No, because right now we're using the amounts that were quoted to us by Accenture.  So if we move that 2-1/2 million from line 10A to line 12, then we would start to apply the inflators we've used for the 2011 -- pardon me, 2012 through to 2018 period, and the result would be somewhat different.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  When you say inflators, you have a contract projection for Accenture to do that?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  Then you have -- in that Board Staff 7, you have other inflators.  Which one would apply?

MR. McGILL:  It would primarily be the wage inflator.

DR. HIGGIN:  So that would be the one in Board Staff Interrogatory 7?

MR. McGILL:  Right.  So when we move that cost from -- depending on how we move it, because we've got an undertaking to do that.  If we simply move it from -- the dollars in each year from line 10A down to line 12, there won't be any difference in the bottom line of the template totals for each year.

DR. HIGGIN:  All right, thank you.  So could we move down, then, to the other two lines, which were 10B, and maybe you can help me just to clarify the functions and the costs and when the contract will need renewal for these functions.

You talked about two dates, that you could carry on to 2014, but you could renegotiate earlier, and this type of thing I would like to clarify, and whether there this is a pure contract cost; in other words, it's not controllable once it's contracted.

MR. McGILL:  It is a pure contract cost.  MET is our meter reading contractor.  The contract we currently have in place with them would have a normal expiry date of March 31st, 2012, and we have a two-year extension option built into that contract, which we right now contemplate executing.

So we would have meter reading services under contract until a minimum of the end of March 2014, and from that point forward we would have to either extend that agreement, renegotiate it, or perhaps go to market and find another service provider to do that work for us.

DR. HIGGIN:  So what are your assumptions - you said what they are between 2012 and 2014 - post in the template?

MR. McGILL:  So in the template, the way we have projected these costs forward, is that we have assumed we would remain on the current contract with MET until the end of March 2012, and then we have taken the dollar value of the contract as it would be in 2014 and applied the inflators to it from -- well, I guess April 1st, 2014 - there's a bit of proration for that year - through to the end of 2018.

MR. MEES:  But is that -- you say inflators.  You are talking about CPI inflation, or are you talking about wage inflation?  Or which inflation, if you could refer me to your schedule -- response to Board Staff 6 – 7, I'm sorry.

MR. McGILL:  Beyond 2014, it has been inflated by the CPI factor of 2.4 percent for each year.

MR. HIGGIN:  So that's your current assumption?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  That's helpful.  Thank you.

If we could move on, then, to the good old Canada Post, and you said what your assumptions are.  I guess my question is:  How good, bad, and who takes the risk, as you just said, with respect to postage costs?  And that's maybe an upside if you have less bills and a downside if it costs more.

MR. McGILL:  Well, yeah.  The way the proposal is framed right now is that we have a forecast of Canada Post costs, and that we would be taking the risk on variances in those costs over the period covered by the template.

MR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So that you're basically guaranteeing a fixed price at the bottom line by saying:  We will handle those costs?

MR. McGILL:  On a per-customer basis, yes.

MR. HIGGIN:  Obviously the corollary to this is:  What assumptions have you made with respect to sharing of those postage costs by the open bill people, as part of that projection?

MR. McGILL:  So with respect to open bill, open bill operates under a separate OEB-approved settlement agreement.

MR. HIGGIN:  Mm-hmm.

MR. McGILL:  And when we went through that consultative process that led to that settlement, we had a cost study that was by Mario Bauer's former company, TMG.

MR. HIGGIN:  I remember it, yes.

MR. McGILL:  They took part in that settlement negotiation.

And they took into account things like allocation of postage costs to the open bill program.  So the way the settlement works is that all parties agreed that we would use the TMG cost model to determine the costs of open bill until the end of 2012, so when we go through and we determine our open bill revenues and what gets shared between ratepayer and the company, we're using the TMG costs that were agreed to in the settlement in order to do that.  And we had proposed to continue to do that until the end of 2012, and then when we come back to the Board with a 2013 rate application, we are going to have to make some kind of proposal as to how we go forward with open bill beyond the end of 2012.

So part of that may be taking a look at that TMG cost study, updating that, and if those allocations change, then they would change and we would have to reflect that in our going-forward open bill proposal.

MR. HIGGIN:  Right.  For the purpose of this particular application, though, the overlapping sharing of costs is largely in postage, because most of the other costs are subject –- are a separate deal with ABSU, as you have said, until the end of 2012.

MR. McGILL:  Postage was taken account into the cost study that underpins the open bill arrangement, and I believe what was agreed to was that for shared bills -– so that's a bill has both Enbridge charges and third-party charges on it -- no postage is allocated.

Again, this would be subject to check.  I'll have to take a look at the settlement agreement. 

But for standalone bills, where it's strictly third-party charges appearing on the bill, those bills are allocated a hundred percent of the postage costs.

So there was a treatment of postage costs that was accepted as part of that of settlement arrangement.

MR. HIGGIN:  Right.  Okay.  We're still focusing on this line and how that would affect your costs and the escalation –- well, first of all, the escalation postage is what it is -- the sharing of those costs with the open bill people and going forward.

MR. McGILL:  Right.  Okay.  So the way that works now is that when I take those allocated costs into account and I calculate a net contribution market for open bill every year, I'm taking those allocated costs into account.

So I take my total open bill revenue, I subtract my total open bill cost that includes these allocations.  I end up with a net contribution.  And then the deal is the ratepayers get the first 5.4 million of that, and the company gets the next two million of that, and then we go into a further sharing beyond that.

So the ratepayers are getting their benefit from these costs through that 5.4 million reduction in rates that's the open bill program generates for them.

MR. HIGGIN:  Right.  Okay.  I got your answer.

Really straying into our VECC Interrogatory No. 6, which asks about this.  I was just trying to explore with you going forward how postage costs, which are a direct cost to you, might or might not be affected by sharing of those costs with the open bill going forward.  That is what I was trying to understand that.  Thank you. 

So let's come now to the last one of these lines in this line, line 12.  So if you look at the costs, there seems to have been a fairly bump-up between the base year and next year, some significant increase.

Is that purely inflation?  In other words, if we look at now column D and we look at line 12, we see 4,085,000 for those costs.  And then there seems -- is that purely inflation?  It seems higher than inflation.  Or may not.

MR. McGILL:  Sorry, are you looking at the difference from 2010 to 2011? 

MR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  And to 2012, of course, yes.

MR. McGILL:  So those costs increase -- I can tell you how they have been inflated.

MR. HIGGIN:  It looks -- 3.6 percent and 3.3 percent, if you look at our interrogatory, line 12. 

MR. McGILL:  Right.  So we started off with the 2010 base, and those costs were inflated to get us to 2013,and we used the wage inflation factor in order to inflate the dollars in that line item. 

MR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  I think I have that one.  Thanks.

So those are the original questions, as I said, about trying to understand these lines and the cost drivers.

I think the only remaining one is indeed -- well, perhaps one more on the template.

If you could go to line 24, the bottom line, and this may be -- you see there on this exhibit 51.15 is the cost per customer, without bad debt.  Okay?  And then you see there's a jump, right?  To -- which you've explained, to $58.

So my question is this.  Given that there may be rebasing going on at the same time, could you do a calculation that will provide a levelized cost per customer?  That's a -- so you would have to make some assumptions, I think, to do that.  So that's the idea, is not just the -- not just using the levelized cost.

MR. McGILL:  Over what period of time did you anticipate...

MR. HIGGIN:  Well, starting with 2012.  It's to avoid the jump.

I mean, let's be very frank.  The base year would be 2012.  Then you would levelize those costs going forward to 2018. 

MR. MEES:  Just for clarity, doctor, what do you mean by levelized?  Do you mean constant, or use 2012 as your starting point to recover the same amount of money that we have in the --


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, that's what I mean.  What would that look like?

MR. CULBERT:  You are thinking about a similar incremental cost per customer increase per year, similar to the annuity factor that we used for smoothing in the first template?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MR. CULBERT:  But on a cost per customer basis, is what you're looking for?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MR. McGILL:  What would we would be doing is basically changing the tilt on the average cost per customer.

DR. HIGGIN:  Exactly.  The reason for that is that we're quite concerned, to add this on top of rebasing, we might be looking at significant impact.  So that's why a scenario like this would be more of interest to my clients, and I think -- I talked to Jay, as well, and he would be interested in seeing these numbers, as well.

MR. MEES:  So, Doctor, do you want an undertaking on that?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, please, I think if you can do it.  That's the first question, if you can do it.

MR. CULBERT:  We can provide that.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Whatever assumptions you need to do that, fine.  So if we could have that undertaking, please?

MS. SEBALJ:  It's JTC1.11.  Can we just clarify for the record exactly what you are requiring, Dr. Higgin?  I think I understand it, which is to basically recalculate the numbers from 2012 to 2018 on the assumption there is no jump.

DR. HIGGIN:  You still have to require the same amount of revenue, but you would smooth it or levelize it over the period.

MR. CULBERT:  To be clear, so that there's an even jump year over year to collect the same dollar value?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, that's right.

MR. CULBERT:  On a cost per customer basis?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. JCT1.11:  TO RECALCULATE THE NUMBERS FROM 2012 TO 2018 ON A COST PER CUSTOMER BASIS ON THE ASSUMPTION THERE IS NO JUMP.

DR. HIGGIN:  So the final question here is to come back to open bill access, if we could, and ask you to turn up your response to VECC interrogatory I-2, schedule 6, page 2.

MR. CULBERT:  I've got that.

DR. HIGGIN:  Just to set the background, you can confirm that the template and the costs that are in front of us, and will be in the Board, do not include any open bill access costs?

MR. McGILL:  No, there's no direct open bill access costs in the template.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  So what I asked you for here was to say, okay, going forward, how might it look, and can you just confirm that this is basically the result of the TMG model?

MR. McGILL:  Well, the forecast I provided is the result of the application of the current open bill settlement --


DR. HIGGIN:  Right.

MR. McGILL:  -- in terms of the costs that we've shown here, and based on our forecast of revenue that is driven by take-up in the marketplace, the number of bills we provide at the different price points that we provide the service at.  So this is our forecast, assuming that the status quo treatment remains in place.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  So clarifying line 2 of this and the costs, could you just explain some of the features of line 2?

MR. McGILL:  Well, the derivation of that cost is quite simple.  It is the cost per bill for either a shared or stand-alone bill, multiplied out times the forecasted number of those bills that we would produce, plus the forecast cost of bad debt associated with the program, that's it, for each of those years.

DR. HIGGIN:  So which is the main, quotes, cost driver?  If you look at this, from 2012 to 2016, the costs are pretty well the same, but there's a jump at the beginning.

MR. McGILL:  In terms of the components of the cost, the biggest single one is what we pay Accenture to support the service.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.

MR. McGILL:  Okay.  And then the other major driver is the number of bills that we're estimating we are going to produce that have third party charges on them.

Then there is other elements of the costs that are allocated to that cost, but in order of magnitude, the Accenture component is probably is -- represents about 80 percent of that figure in each of those years.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  That's what I interpret.  Therefore, I was surprised when I looked at these costs and saw that, for example, your 2011 costs were 12 million and your 2012 costs were 13.3, et cetera, and there was no corresponding increase that would relate to the Accenture cost.

MR. McGILL:  But they would be reflected in that line item.

DR. HIGGIN:  The increase in costs going forward?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  I think I may have to ask you for a bit more of an interpretation of this.  I don't want to give you a lot of work, because it's sort of peripheral to this particular application, but I think we would like to understand the breakdown of those costs a little more, if we could get an undertaking to do that.

And we're particularly interested, as you just said, in how it relates to the 80 percent costs for Accenture and the unit costs of Accenture, how they have been calculated.

MR. McGILL:  Something I want to make sure you understand is that there's no Accenture costs associated with open bill in the template.

DR. HIGGIN:  I understood that.  We clarified that up front.

MR. McGILL:  Okay.

DR. HIGGIN:  But this is, as I said, peripheral, and we would like to understand this going forward.  So if you could give us a bit more of a breakdown as to how those costs were computed, particularly what happened to the 80 percent Accenture cost.

MR. McGILL:  I can show you the cost components of that line item.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, if you would.  So can I have an undertaking to do that?  Thank you.

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  It is JTC1.12.
UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.12:  TO PROVIDE BREAKDOWN OF COSTS SHOWN IN VECC INTERROGATORY EXHIBIT I, TAB 2, SCHEDULE 6, PAGE 2.

DR. HIGGIN:  And the last question I have on open bill is as follows.  As we all know, the capital costs for CIS increased and there has been an overrun, and that overrun is being carried forward under agreement into the costs going forward.  The question is:  How are open bill customers going to get a piece of that overrun?

MR. McGILL:  Okay.  So I guess -- I think there's two parts to my response here.  First is there's no capital cost overrun in the CIS project.  The total budget for the project, after the system integrator was checked and we knew what they were going to cost, was approximately 127.7 million.

The project ended up coming in slightly under that amount.  So there's no cost overrun there.

With respect to how open bill customers contribute to the recovery of that cost, that would be determined by whatever cost allocation mechanism applies to open bill.

So right now, we have a cost allocation model that applies to open bill that was agreed to through a set settlement process.  We're going to have to revisit that going into 2013.  I don't know if it's going to change or not at this point in time.

But going forward, if we continue with open bill, there would be some cost allocation model that's applicable to that service, and that would dictate how any of these costs that are to be allocated to it would be done, how that would be done.

MR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.

Just to clarify the first part of your answer, as a matter of a timing issue, that when you entered into this settlement agreement that you didn't have a contract price for the CIS, but when you went into the OPA settlement, which was a year later, you did have that price, and therefore that was reflected in the open bill costs?

MR. McGILL:  I think I would characterize it as that was considered as part of coming to a settlement with respect to open bill.  And if I remember that settlement correctly, there were no CIS costs allocated to the open bill function through the settlement mechanism.

MR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  I'll have to go back and look at it.

MR. McGILL:  I have to go back and check it, as well, but I'm about 90 percent certain.

MR. HIGGIN:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.
Questions by Mr. Quinn:

MR. QUINN:  I had intended to start in the beginning, but I just -- I need to understand this last point.

There's an overrun that is going to be carried forward in the template, and I respect and understand that there was no variances considered in the template, so this additional system integration cost, which is the predominant component to what will be moved forward, is going to be borne in the 2013-2018 timeframe, but help me again to understand your last answer, if you would, that says that open bill doesn't share in that cost overrun.

MR. McGILL:  Okay.  So again, it will be subject to checking the open bill settlement agreement, but at the time that that -- and that's a regulatory settlement.  There were several intervenors involved with that, and the settlement was accepted by all the intervenors on the record at the time, approximately two years ago.

It was agreed that there wouldn't be CIS costs allocated to the program.

MR. QUINN:  CIS as differentiated from system integration?  Or is that all a component of --


MR. McGILL:  It would all be in –- all-inclusive.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, not being a party to that, I'll trust that Dr. Higgin and yourself will be able to review that and ensure we're on the same footing next week.

So I think I will, then, go back to the beginning, and frankly I only have a fraction of the questions that I had at the outset, since Mr. Thompson and others, including Mr. Higgin, have covered a lot of the area.

I'm going to start with the overall concern and then ask you some specific questions going forward, and possibly you can give me some comfort as to a greater understanding of why, and if it is going to be a component of your previous undertakings, then maybe you can tell me that that is going to happen.

What is my overarching concern is that we are moving into, as characterized by Five Points, a third generation of a system.  And with that, we have a company, a service company who has got up the learning curve.  And Enbridge has come up the learning curve.  You have now repatriated certain aspects, but you are going to benefit in your forward agreement from service-level improvements.  But I still see an overall increased cost per customer, when intuitively you would think, with economies of scale, you should be adding customers and achieving economy of scale benefits.

So I guess what I would like to do is try to turn up some -- I'm going to work predominantly from Board Staff interrogatories, because I think they were very helpful, and maybe you can help me with some assumptions you've made in your model and some costs, as Dr. Higgin has suggested, that are controllable versus contract costs.

So if you could start with the schedule 2, page 2 of Board Staff, now, I understand from this schedule that there is -- sorry, do you have that?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  From this schedule, it says that you have a system that is older, and therefore will likely require an enhanced level of maintenance and support.  Do you have -- well, from my experience when going to warranty discussions with our service provider, you have different levels of years that you may be able to access.  Do you have any figures from SAP at this time as to what you can anticipate if you were to renew that contract -- or, sorry, HP, if you were to renew that contract?

MR. McGILL:  Well, the figure that we've presented in the template are based on information that we have been provided with from our IT people that are responsible for making sure that those services are in place and negotiating those agreements.

So that's their anticipated cost associated with renegotiating that contract.

MR. QUINN:  I understand IT people want to take care of the company the best they can, but did they ask SAP going forward, because you are going to have to make some -

MR. McGILL:  Sorry, which line item...

MR. QUINN:  I'm sorry, HP.

MR. McGILL:  Yes, definitely.  They deal with them all the time.

MR. QUINN:  So you have something from HP that you can produce that says that this here would be your anticipated costs in 2014 and beyond?

MR. McGILL:  I don't know for certain what we have in HP in terms of quotes.  I would have to go back to the IT people to get that.

All I know is we've discussed it with them.  We've explained to them why they need their forecast of those costs, and this is what they have provided to us.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I guess what I'm reading in here, though, is you've got reference to CPI and wage inflation factors, when I think you have said you've got an HP – somewhat sole-source provider, who I think would provide some form of forecast to you as to what they anticipate warranty costs would be, so you can make decisions as to whether you replace or continue on with an existing system.

And I'm wondering if we wouldn't be better informed with the HP forecast.

MR. McGILL:  Just so you understand, if you look at Board Staff Interrogatory No.  23, in there we break out the internal versus external costs associated with each line item in terms of our 2010 actual costs.  So there is 6.3 million in total, of which a little over 500,000 was internal cost.

So in terms of the external costs, we would be using the contract values.  In terms of the internal costs, we would be applying wage inflation, and that's why we reference both of those things in the description of how we forecast that line item in Board Staff Interrogatory 2.  Because there's a component, like, a relatively component of internal costs, but it's a mix of external and internal.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Correct.

And so you have approximately $5.8 million of external costs, of which what has been put into your template moving forward is your existing costs, and then afterwards -- you have not just a applied the 2.4 percent; have you not applied a risk factor associated with older equipment?

MR. McGILL:  Well, again, it was our IT people that derived the contract cost figures with respect to the maintenance of the hardware.  So I'm relying on their estimates here.

So their estimates would go to the outsourced component, which here is probably about a little over 90 percent of the total cost.

MR. QUINN:  I guess, again, we're in that category of controllable versus not controllable.  This is something that you have opportunity to make a decision as to continuing with a higher level of maintenance, which could be expected out of older equipment.  But to the extent that at some point you choose to replace, if I understood your answer earlier, that may come back in as a normal cost of replacement that would end up potentially coming back to ratepayers; is that correct?

MR. McGILL:  Potentially, depending on the rate-setting mechanism in place.  If it's an unbudgeted replacement that isn't covered in an IR cost base, then we would absorb the cost of replacing that equipment.

MR. QUINN:  You would absorb it, or would it be part of your rate base --


MR. McGILL:  Well, it depends on what is in the base.

MR. CULBERT:  What Steve is saying is if we were in an incentive term and the base didn't have that type of forecast unit, then we would be at risk for any cost variances that we face going forward.  So it depends on the model we are in.

MR. QUINN:  I accept that.  I guess my struggle is this is kind of a stand-alone agreement, and then you've got an IRM agreement and we don't want to get caught betwixt and between where decisions are made where we are at risk for the costs which we don't have some information upfront before we settle on the forecast of costs that in your model.

So the model is helpful, but it's your ability to control those costs and have them impact us is what I'm concerned about.

MR. McGILL:  I think the other aspect of it is the risk we take with respect to those costs.  So if we've got roughly a $7 million a year expense with respect to this line item and we find we have to go out and replace the equipment early -- let's say we have to lease new equipment and it costs us more than that 7 million a year.  Then we're going to be on the hook for that.

MR. QUINN:  If it's not forecasted into your IRM?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  That's helpful.  If we can turn up, then, the next interrogatory, schedule 3, where you have provided whether the actual costs were lower or higher than forecast.

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  So if we go to line 5, again we've got -- the first three years appear to be the -- if I'm reading this right, the back office costs were lower.

MR. McGILL:  Right.  That's because the new CIS didn't become operational until September 2009.  So we didn't have -- effectively, we didn't a CIS back office until we implemented the system.  So that's why 2007, 2008, those costs are zero in 2007.  We've got 60,000 there in 2008.  Then in 2009 you are basically picking up the last four months of the year where we had that function staffed up and operational, so the day after the CIS was implemented and operating.

And then in 2010, you're seeing the full year impact of having that group in place.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So if I'm reading this correctly, you're approximately half-a-million dollars short in the approximately 2-1/2 million dollars you had in your budget for CIS back office?

MR. McGILL:  So in 2010, yes, the settlement amount was 526,000 lower than the actual cost that we incurred in that year.

MR. QUINN:  And I think Mr. Thompson's request for undertaking of six actual and six forecast will help us look at it.  But I guess what I struggle to understand is, if your actual costs are in the order of over $3 million, you are still forecasting moving forward less than $3 million in the first couple of years.

And I was wondering if there were any one-time costs in 2010 for such thing as repatriation of the large volume billing that would be actually included in that back office cost?

MR. McGILL:  The large volume billing function is a separate function from the CIS back office.  So the CIS back office team is helping to maintain and operate the CIS system.  All customers are billed and supported through the use of the CIS system.  So some of them are large volume customers.  The majority are mass market customers.

But the cost of the large volume billing function isn't directly tied to the CIS back office function.

MR. QUINN:  Would we find it anywhere in this template in terms of actual cost?

MR. McGILL:  Which are you looking for?

MR. QUINN:  The large volume billing.

MR. McGILL:  It's not set out separately in the template, but we've spoken to it in -- I think it's Board Staff schedule 2; I, schedule 2.

MR. MEES:  Just to clarify, you had asked for actual costs of the large volume repatriation, which didn't even begin until 2011.  So to the extent that when we supply you the six and six forecast, at that point, that's where you would see it.  You would not see it in 2010.

MR. QUINN:  That's where I was leading.  I thank you for that.  Can you ensure the undertaking that was previously requested by Mr. Thompson could break out the large volume billing in your six actual and six forecast?  That way we understand the implications of that repatriation.

MR. McGILL:  We can do that.

MR. QUINN:  So we're not having to take another undertaking, I think that would be helpful.  We don't disagree with it.  We just want to understand the implications.

MS. SEBALJ:  Can we just be clear?  Do you happen to know which -- I think Mr. Thompson's undertakings were 1.5 through 1.8.  Do you know which one, for the record, which one you are referring to?

MR. QUINN:  1.6.

MS. SEBALJ:  1.6, okay.  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  If we move forward, I wanted to go to schedule 7, which has been touched on in different ways so far, and maybe again you can help me with my understanding.

I understand you are going to try to do a GDP IPI.  I always struggle with that one.  You are going to try to see if you can forecast that going forward.

If I focus just on the wage inflation factor of 3.6, we understand you are also going to check to see if there is anything more recent, but have you done any comparisons to another source, such as Bank of Canada's wage inflation factor?

MR. McGILL:  These inflation factors that are quoted in the response to Board Staff Interrogatory 7 are produced by our economic studies group internally.  And the way they do that is they take a composite of I'm going to say about ten forecasts from leading financial institutions.

So they take a look at the forecasts of the major chartered banks.  I think the Conference Board is in there, and several other organizations, and they basically just take a weighted average of their forecasts.

So in terms of how this stacks up to what others are forecasting, it's driven by their forecasts.  So it's basically a composite average of the forecasts of those institutions.

And when we reply to the undertaking that we took with respect to updating these figures, we will provide the list of financial institutions that were included in developing this composite set of factors.

MR. QUINN:  That's excellent, anticipating the last question.  Undertaking 1.9 was asking for the more current outlook.  If you could provide the references, that would be helpful, yes.

MR. McGILL:  Yes, we'll do that as part of that undertaking response.

MR. QUINN:  Again, this was touched on by Dr. Higgin, but in Board Staff schedule 16 there was -- you were talking here about the impact of self-service benefits for online billings.

I just have a couple of questions in that area.  This may be a procedural matter, but we still have the declaration and undertaking here.  Do we need to sign that if we are getting redacted copies, or are we going to get full copies with the declaration signed?

MR. STEVENS:  The redacted copies will be posted publicly, and everybody who signs the undertaking will also receive the unredacted copy.  It's probably easiest, from a procedural point of view, even though it's putting the cart ahead of the horse, to sign the undertaking today with the expectation of getting the contract tomorrow.

MR. QUINN:  That's great.  We'll do that.  Possibly as opposed to going through the 500 pages, would you help us understand before:  Is there anything in the contract that has been agreed to by Accenture and Enbridge as to how the benefits or opportunities would be shared to the extent that online billing becomes -- there's greater uptake of online billing?

MR. MEES:  The contract does not have anything on on-line billing and saving as a result of people moving to self-service.

I do want to that give you an understanding of the kind of numbers we're talking about here.  Currently we have about seven percent of our customers that are on e-bill, and we started e-bill back in 2006.  So we are five years in, and we get -- it looks to have levelled off.  It is bump up a little bit, actually, when you look at the impact of the Canada Post strike, but even that was not even material.

So you're at a point where most customers who would move to e-bill have moved to e-bill.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I think that forecasting the uptake may be very difficult at this point, based upon historical.  I guess my question is -- I think you've answered there is no provisions for the sharing.  If I understand it correctly, then, each of Enbridge and Accenture would benefit by their respective cost reductions as a result of having to print and eventually post new bills?

MR. McGILL:  Yes, that's correct.  The main benefit to us would be the avoidance of postage costs.

MR. QUINN:  Does your postage estimate reflect any change in forecast of on-line billing increase?

MR. McGILL:  No, it doesn't.

MR. QUINN:  If we can move to schedule 18, I guess my question here pertains to what we're -- what Enbridge is going to do at the end of the current contract if everything moves forward, as people are hoping, through this process.

There is an escalation of costs in 2018 and 2019, I believe it is; is that accurate, for continuation of service?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  It --


MR. McGILL:  To fill a little bit in, the contract, the 2007 Accenture contract, provided two different extension options that we could enter into, that were set with predetermined pricing, and one of them was a two-year extension option.  So that extension option was carried forward in the extension that we have agreed to with Accenture.  So 2018 are optional extension years in that agreement.

MR. QUINN:  You help my understanding by saying this emanated from the original 2007 agreement.

Did Enbridge negotiate anything with Accenture to try to mitigate that cost by adding in longer notice periods to mitigate that risk of the escalation in '18 and '19?

MR. McGILL:  Not with respect to longer notice periods, no.

We did negotiate a better schedule of fees for termination of convenience that decline over the period of time in the contract.  And if I remember correctly, by the time we get to 2018, they are pretty much gone.

So in some respects, we did get a benefit in terms of that, but it's not impacting directly on the fees.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.

Moving to schedule 20, there was -- again, this was touched on just briefly earlier, but I'm focusing on the meter-reading costs.  And in page 2 of two and schedule 20, the -- I guess the heading "Things Doing Well Today" is great value derived from meter-reading, and some outside/inside meter reading costs are posted.

Do you have any comparators that you've used to assess that as great value?

MR. McGILL:  Well, the MET contract was entered into as the result of a lengthy RFP process in 2007, and at that time that process confirmed that we were getting very competitive rates from MET.  In terms of our working relationship with MET, it's very positive, and that was what was reflected in the comments that we got back from our internal stakeholders when we were conducting the strategy development process.

So that's what you are seeing here, is our view of the value we're getting from the MET contract.  And again, it was established through a competitive tendering process.

MR. QUINN:  So there are no current competitors that you have that would –- you know, what Union Gas' outside and inside meter-reading costs would be?

MR. McGILL:  I don't have anything available right now, no.

MR. QUINN:  Well, this contract, then, the corollary of that would be this contract is up for renewal -- don't have the reference here.  It's up for renewal in the next couple of years?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.  We can extend it until the end of March 2014.

MR. QUINN:  2014.  Then if I understand it, what you're providing in this template is that you would be at risk for escalation of costs beyond that?

MR. McGILL:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  But you put in –- well, I would presume, based upon these things, it was 2.4 percent added for CPI?

MR. McGILL:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  I'm going to shift at this point just to one question that came from the Five Points slide deck that is in your evidence; it's actually slide 25.  I don't have the actual page of –- you can find it in the Five Point summary slides.

MR. MEES:  That was page?

MR. QUINN:  25.  In this slide, Five Points as identified that the contract extension is conditional upon Enbridge's commitment to implement CIS enhancements within the dates.  So the first bullet says:

“Enbridge is to implement nine identified CIS enhancements with target dates anywhere from December 31, 2011 to December 31, 2012."

If the target is not met, there is an approximately $1 million penalty to Enbridge.  How would that penalty be dealt with in the context of the template?

MR. McGILL:  It's not included in the template charges.

MR. QUINN:  Would its handling be similar to the escalation of system integration costs, or is that yet to be negotiated?

MR. McGILL:  No, we would –- we would be at risk for this, because -- for, I guess, two reasons.  One is that based on the time requirements for implementing these enhancements, they have to be in by the end of 2012, which mean they would be subject to the current settlement agreement that has no provision for this cost.

So Enbridge is fully at risk for it.

MR. QUINN:  That's helpful.  Thank you.

And then coming full circle here, and the best opportunity, I think, is to use the VECC interrogatory, schedule 2, so tab 2, schedule 2, and page 4.

At the outset, I expressed our concern that while this process seems positive and collaborative, we want to manage cost implications.  And in this table, you've presented some of the percentage increases year-over-year that would be expected, and again, some reflect what you would expect from a 2.4 or a 3.6 increase, with the obvious difference here being postage.

I guess my question, then, is then to say:  If I look at that schedule just as it is, there seems to be a high level of costs going forward in each of the respective categories, but I don't see what I would anticipate as the ongoing benefit of using an existing system that doesn't have to be procured and that doesn't have transition costs.

And our friends at VECC had requested a spreadsheet that was provided late yesterday, and I only got a chance to do the math actually during our break.  But I wanted to take a look at what percentage increases would be, in the overall percentage increases, if you remove transition costs and the original costs of procurement that are in the template, so when we start looking at what -- comparing apples to apples, we're talking about moving into a contract that doesn't have to be procured or transitioned into.

And I get significantly higher increases in the per customer cost, so I was wondering, because I was able to do it here and it would probably be better if we do it by undertaking, if you could by undertaking present to us a schedule comparing the overall -- I'll be specific.  If you will use the spreadsheet that was sent out yesterday that has the costs going forward for comparison between the first template and the second, but remove costs in line 13, which is customer care procurement, and then costs that are associated with the original development system, including SAP modifications in line 7 and any other line one-time costs associated with the original implementation of the system.

I would just like to be able to get a comparison of the ongoing costs of system maintenance versus, you know, the expected start-up costs of the system.

So would you be able to provide us that spreadsheet again, this time with the initiation costs removed?

MR. McGILL:  I'm just struggling to understand what you are asking for here.  So what we have in VECC No. 2 is year over year changes and percentage changes for each cell included in the template.  And my understanding of what you are asking for is a comparison of the 2013 template to the 2007 template with certain things removed; is that correct?

MR. QUINN:  Yes, with what I have defined as one-time costs, such as procurement or SAP modifications that are making the system work.  Elements like that, or any other elements that you would define as one-time costs of initiating the new system, if those are removed, I want to compare ongoing costs of running the system versus what you are projecting to be your ongoing costs in the second period of running that same system.

And if you just send it to us as a spreadsheet like that, then we can do the math in terms of these percentage increases over time.

MR. McGILL:  I'm still not quite certain I understand what you are looking for, because the only one-time cost associated with the new CIS was the capital cost of building that asset.  And that's reflected in line number 3 of the original template and the 2013 template.

So we could remove that and that would leave you with strictly operating costs associated with the customer care function, including the support of the CIS.

MR. QUINN:  To be clear, I'm not asking about the removal of the capital costs or the cost consequence as a result of that.  In the spreadsheet that was provided, there was the range of costs that are lined up with those line numbers, and I'm talking about costs of procurement, which we won't have to go through at this point, nor will we necessarily have SAP modifications for the system integrator.

So at that point, we can reflect more what the ongoing costs of running the system would be -- have been in 2007 and compare that to what you are projecting them to be in 2013 to 2018.

MR. STEVENS:  I guess one of the troubles I'm having, Mr. Quinn, is that if we go back as far as 2007, we're really not in apples to apples at all.  We don't have the new CIS in 2007.  We're paying certain amounts to CWLP which involve quite large disallowances, as you can see from the overages, in terms of the expenses incurred by Enbridge.

You might not be fully aware of the history of this, but there wasn't -- in order to get a settlement in 2007, Enbridge agreed that it could only recover a fraction of the costs it was paying to CWLP for CIS and customer care services up until the time it was transitioned to a third party, being ABSU and being the new CIS.

And that kind of throws any direct comparison into doubt between these two periods of time, and I'm not sure how we can create the valid comparison that I think you are looking for.

MR. QUINN:  I admit to not having all of the history, so maybe you can help me.  How can I compare the previous template to the new template so we have an apples-to-apples comparison of running the new system?  If we don't look at 2007, 2008 and 2009, that could be part of it, so we just use 2010, '11 and '12 based upon ongoing costs.  Would that be more helpful?

MR. STEVENS:  Perhaps I'm being overly simplistic here, but I wonder whether just looking at the actuals and forecasts for 2011 and 2012, and then comparing those, for example, to the forecast for 2013, rather than talking about averages -- if you just look at discrete years, I'm wondering if you can get to the comparison that you're hoping to get.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I've altered this spreadsheet from the original, so I guess I will make my own interpretation for our benefit.  I just would like to have something on the record that, to the extent that we move forward, there is something on the record that differentiates one-time procurement and integration costs from ongoing costs of operating the system.

So would Enbridge be able to provide a more direct comparison of ongoing operation versus what 2007 shows, given things like CWLP's impact on the schedule?

MR. STEVENS:  I guess I'm still at a loss to understand why simply comparing, for example, 2012 to 2013 wouldn't do that?

MR. QUINN:  Because some of it is forecasts and some of it is -- there was a differing or spreading of costs from I think the procurement process.  I don't have the original in front of me.  I can do the math, but I guess I'm wanting to have something that I'm not putting evidence forward, when it's not my evidence; it's yours.

So I'm trying to have a way of showing ongoing system operation, a comparison from the previous term to the new term, and what the various components work out to be.

MR. STEVENS:  Again, I may be oversimplifying it, but I feel like Exhibit B-5-2 does that.

DR. HIGGIN:  Can I just interrupt?  I think one of the things that is missing in that comparison is the extra costs of the procurement of the system, which are then being carried forward to post to 2013.  You get the idea?  So that's one difference.

The full recovery of the capital was based on 120 million.

MR. McGILL:  One thing to understand is that the cost of procuring the CIS system, so the cost of the tendering process we went through, that's included in the capital costs of the CIS.  So it's in line 3 of the template right now.

MR. QUINN:  If I look at 5.2, as I have directed to, there is 980,000 in line 13 for customer care procurement costs.  Is that moving forward in anywhere in the template?

MR. McGILL:  Not beyond 2012, no.

MR. QUINN:  That's part of my challenge.  That's what I'm asking.  If you remove costs such as that, then we have more of what is the cost to operate the system once it's operational.  So if you remove that and the SAP modifications in 2010, we can compare more apples to apples of what is the cost to run the system.

MR. McGILL:  If that is all you're asking for is just a restated version of the 2013 template, which I believe is five-two-two, with those two line items removed, with the dollar values for those two line items removed for 2007 through 2012, we can do that, if that's going to help you.

MR. QUINN:  That will help, because then we have comparators between customer care costs per customer moving forward, and that's pertinent to some of the other undertakings.

MR. McGILL:  So I guess we'll undertake to do that.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

MS. SEBALJ:  It's JTC1.13.
UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.13:  TO PROVIDE A REVISED VERSION OF 2013 TEMPLATE WITH LINE ITEMS REMOVED.

MR. QUINN:  One of the other removals that was part of the negotiation, as I understand it -- Mario provided it this morning -- was the removal of soft skills and removal of training that Accenture had in its original scope that was negotiated out.

Can you help us with -- is there any expected impact that may be seen from those services that would not be taken into account in your template?

MR. McGILL:  I think -- when we were negotiating the extension arrangements with Accenture, one of the things that we had initially requested was a service level to guarantee a minimum of annual soft skills training for the customer contact people working in the call centre.  And we saw that as a way of improving customer service.

We also have some other service levels in the agreement with respect to quality of the interaction with the customer on the telephone, such as -- a monthly call-scoring mechanism is the main thing, where every person that answers the phone, they have several calls sampled, and those are scored by a supervisor, and then there's follow-up work with those people, if required.

So when we were in the negotiation, Accenture came back and basically identified a value of about $2 million a year associated with providing that extra training.

So in the course of the negotiations, that's one of the things we dropped, is the requirement for a service level to do annual soft skills training with the CSRs.

MR. QUINN:  Presumably, of course, you would have some form of ongoing training associated with this system.

Where would we find that in your template, moving forward?

MR. McGILL:  In terms of the training of the Accenture people?

MR. QUINN:  The training of your staff.

MR. McGILL:  Our staff, that would be included in lines 5 and 12.

The training of the Accenture people would be Accenture's cost, and that would be covered in line 10A.

MR. QUINN:  This gets to an overarching concern, and I don't know if, Kevin, you can help me with this, but because I'm coming to understand we have this agreement and you have your IRM agreement, obviously there are costs that -- as you look at this system, and a large-volume building may be a great example, but you've got costs that can be –- end up being commingled with utility costs.

What controls are in place to ensure that if we were able to get some form of settlement or decision by the Board as to this is the template moving forward, what kind of assurances or controls are in place that we would know that CIS costs are separated from ongoing utility costs?

MR. McGILL:  You mean for the purpose of rate-setting, Dwayne?

MR. QUINN:  Yeah, for the purposes of rate-setting, or for derivation of actuals for financials.

MR. McGILL:  For the purpose of rate-setting, we would envision that the request we're making here is that the costs going forward would be treated in the same manner that they are currently in our current IR template, this is, being a Y-factor, where in one year you remove the prior year's forecast of costs that everybody has agreed to in an agreement, and you input the next year's cost.

So for rate-setting purposes, those wouldn't be in part of the other costs, or IR formula costs, if we are in an IR formula.  So there would be segregation there, so you wouldn't have any duplication in terms of rate-setting.

In terms of actual costs, it would depend on the IR model, if we're in one, and its inner workings, as to whether parties agree that, whatever the costs are associated with customer care and CIS, are what they are, or whether they are to be hived off and treated separately.  It depends on what the agreement is for our next IR model.

So it's kind of hard for me to say how that model is necessarily going to work, but we'll deal with that when we get to a next cost of service or IR ratemaking model, and figure out what has to be done in that regard.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I can appreciate that -- and I have limited understanding of the model you currently have in place, but I do understand that management control and your ability to allocate -- to have your actual costs flow to the right journal entries, to the right accounts, can have a big impact.

And I guess -- is there some kind of set of controls where the separation of those costs into their respective categories is audited on an annual basis?

MR. MEES:  We certainly have a budget system and tracking of actuals, where we obviously have to do that in order to be able to answer questions about any ADR agreement we were to come to here to -- in the future we are going to have to report what the actual costs were, et cetera, so we'll have control mechanisms in place that we have to follow.

I wouldn't say that there's an audit of those from any external party per se, but we'll have to track the costs, yes.

MR. QUINN:  I understand you have to track the costs. So I guess we can reserve that for later.

Last area I want to move to -- and again, it was helpful to understand the dialogue that went on about open bill and ABCT.

Is there anywhere in your evidence where you derive the overall cost of the contract with Accenture and show how costs have been moved to open bill and ABCT so that they are not part of this template?

MR. McGILL:  No.  I don't believe there's anywhere in the evidence right now where we show the removal of those costs from the Accenture contract forecast costs, but I can undertake to do that.

MR. QUINN:  That would be helpful, because then – you understand where that could have impact.

With that, those of my questions, panel.  Thank you very much.

MS. SEBALJ:  We'll just mark that last undertaking as JTC1.14.
UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.14:  TO PROVIDE COSTS REMOVED FROM ACCENTURE CONTRACT AND MOVED TO OPEN BILL AND ABCT.

MS SEBALJ:  Mr. Stevens, did you have anything by way of --


MR. STEVENS:  No, nothing at all.  Thank you.

MS. SEBALJ:  I think that's it for today, then, unless anyone is jumping up to raise any issues.

Thank you, panel, for your time.  And I suppose we will see each other next Tuesday for the settlement conference.

I'll just let parties know that I'm away and Maureen Helt will be sitting in as legal for the settlement conference.  Thanks, everyone.

--- Whereupon the conference concluded at 3:29 p.m.
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